# THERMAL DESIGN USING SYSTEM MODELING TO PREVENT LOW-TEMPERATURE BURN INJURIES DURING UTILIZATION STAGE OF PORTABLE ELETRONIC PRODUCTS

August 2016

Yoshio MURAOKA

(Intentionally Blank)

### Abstract

During utilization stage of portable electronic products such as smartphones and digital cameras, risk of low-temperature burn injuries to a user by temperature rise on product surface has become a growing concern. Temperature rise incidents are increasing because of the demands for smaller- and higher-performance products. Many functions of electronic products are realized by software. Because components including software and hardware interact complicatedly, verification for thermal quality tends to be performed after integration of software and hardware in the late stage of the development. Therefore the thermal problem may cause fatal iterative work at the development. In addition, not only product development, but also production and support affect temperature rises during end-user product utilization, thermal design must be considered through product lifecycles.

To address the concerns of low-temperature burn injuries and fatal iterative work, the author proposes a system modeling for estimating a product's thermal quality using its design parameters. A portable electronic product consists of modules such as software, electrical parts and mechanical structures, which are developed in a distributed design environment. A system model describes behaviors of heat generation and transfer according to the states of the electrical parts that perform functions when in use. This dissertation clarifies the interactions of modules that affect temperature rise, by applying a modeling system to a portable electronic product. The author also proposes a method to manage the factors that affect the thermal quality during module designs to prevent fatal iterative work. In addition, this system model is used to understand heat generation condition in the development, production and support stages of the product lifecycle.

This dissertation consists of five chapters. In Chapter 1, the background and purpose of this research are described. Chapter 2 describes the architecture design of a portable electronic product in thermal design view. A system model is developed to describe behaviors of heat generation and transfer. To understand the possibility leading to low-temperature burn injuries, a product's thermal quality is estimated with the modules' design parameters using thermal simulations based on the system behaviors. After architecture candidates of the product are defined, boundary conditions between modules are distributed to the designs of individual modules as initial target values (ITVs). Using ITVs, modules are efficiently designed and verified to satisfy the thermal quality of the example product. In case an inconsistency is found during the module

design, another combination of ITVs is investigated, developed, and updated to satisfy the product thermal quality requirements. A multiple-domain matrix (MDM) is used to visualize the system elements and the above-mentioned module interactions in thermal design view. By describing the thermal simulation result with the MDM, the effects of system behaviors and structure on a product's thermal quality can be presented quantitatively.

In Chapter 3, thermal designs using system modeling are applied in the product development and support stages of the product lifecycle. Activities that describe thermal behaviors are decomposed to be allocated to the relevant system component. During the development stage, the thermal design specifications of a portable electronic product are derived using thermal simulation. Because the architecture candidates that are traceable to the system model are defined, the most appropriate candidate can be selected. The thermal simulation based on the system model is applied for the design changes that are expected to degrade the product's thermal quality by adjusting design parameters of the modules. During the support stage, a product's thermal quality may degrade due to software changes such as operating system (OS) updates. This dissertation describes the thermal design method to prepare countermeasures against further temperature rise caused by software changes. Since the expected behaviors are reflected in the system model, an assessment of countermeasure alternatives can be effectively performed when the thermal quality is degraded.

Chapter 4 applies the system model in the production stage. To address concerns that the variability of leakage current effect of a semiconductor processor may cause further temperature rises, the leakage current effect is included as behavior in the system model. Then, the thermal simulation developed for architecture design is employed to determine the allowable range of variability in the leakage current. Components that cause quality degradation can therefore be screened for compliance with this range before implementation of the components. Chapter 5 concludes this dissertation with a discussion of possible future work.

### Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to express my greatest appreciation to Prof. Hidekazu Nishimura, my principle advisor, for continuous support and direction for this Ph.D. research. His encouragement and many advices helped me in all the time of research and writing this dissertation. Besides my advisor, I would like to thank Prof. Kazuhiro Aoyama, Prof. Yoshiaki Ohkami, and Prof. Shinichiro Haruyama for serving the defense committee members and providing me with valuable insight into my research.

My appreciation goes to Prof. Kenichi Seki who provided me an opportunity to start this research. As co-author and superior for related researches, he continuously supported and encouraged me. Also I thank Dr. Lionel Blanc who provided me precious advices about activities related to power management of electronic products.

I am indebted to my superiors and colleagues of Keio University Graduate School of System Design and Management (Keio SDM) and Sony Corp. Sunkil Yun provided me great advises about model description using SysML. I am grateful to all other professors and colleagues for understanding and supporting my research activities.

Lastly, and most importantly, I wish to thank my family for their continuous support, patience and encouragement.

## Table of Contents

<u>Contents</u>	Page
ABSTRACT	ü
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	v
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
ABBREVIATIONS	xi
NOMENCLATURE	xii
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Research background	1
1.1.1 Thermal problems in portable electronic products	1
1.1.2 Complexity in thermal design	6
1.1.3 Conventional thermal management	12
1.1.4 Design approach to manage structural complexity of a product	16
1.2 Research purpose and scope	18
1.2.1 Research purpose	18
1.2.2 Research scope	19
1.3 Structure of the dissertation	23
CHAPTER 2 ARCHITECTURE DESIGN WITHIN A DISTRIBUTED	
DESIGN ENVIRONMENT IN THERMAL DESIGN VIEW	25
2.1 Introduction	25
2.2 Development of a system model in thermal design view	26
2.2.1 System modeling of a portable electronic product	26
2.2.2 Preparation for system analysis using module design parameters	30
2.3 Thermal design management using the system model	32
2.3.1 Setting target values of boundary conditions between modules	32
2.3.2 Describing the relationships between the modules using MDM	36
2.3.3 Architecture definition in thermal design view	42
2.3.4 Proposed thermal design process	48

2.4 Summary	. 50
CHAPTER 3 THERMAL DESIGN SPECIFICATION OF A PORTABLE ELECTRONIC PRODUCT	. 52
3.1 Introduction	. 52
3.2 Thermal quality of portable electronic products	. 52
3.3 Development of the system model for smartphone thermal design	. 55
3.4 Application to thermal design in the development stage	. 64
3.4.1 Thermal design parameter exploration to resolve conflicting user	
requirements	64
3.4.2 Update ITVs to prevent degradation of thermal quality due to design	
changes	69
3.5 Application to thermal design in the support stage	. 74
3.5.1 Thermal management in a maintenance process	74
3.5.2 Estimation of thermal quality in preparation for software changes	
5.6 Summary	. 04
CHAPTER 4 APPLICATION TO A PRODUCTION SYSTEM	~ ~
CONSIDERING VARIABILITY OF COMPONENT CHARACTERISTICS	85
4.1 Introduction	. 85
4.2 Thermal simulation model of leakage current effect	. 86
4.3 Thermal management considering variability in semiconductor	
characteristics	. 94
4.4 Application to themal design in the production stage	. 96
4.4.1 Effect of variability in leakage current	96
4.4.2 Prevention of thermal quality degradation by screening semiconductor	00
processor samples.	
4.4.5 Sorting processes for matching thermal characteristics in product varia	ints
4.5 Summary	103
	104
CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSION AND FUTURE WORK	104
5.1 Conclusion	104
5.2 Future work	106
REFERENCES	108

## List of Tables

Table Tit	le Page
TABLE 1.1	ATTRIBUTES OF THE FOUR PRODUCT CATEGORIES
TABLE 1.2	EXAMPLES OF USER REQUIREMENTS FOR PORTABLE PRODUCTS (GEBAUER
ET AL.	2008)
TABLE 1.3	RELATIONS BETWEEN QUALITY CHARACTERISTICS AND TECHNOLOGICAL
DISCIE	PLINES
TABLE 1.4	THERMAL MANAGEMENT TECHNIQUES FOR PORTABLE ELECTRONIC
PRODU	JCTS
TABLE 3.1	INITIAL DESIGN PARAMETERS
TABLE 3.2	Countermeasure alternative for the parameter exploration $\dots 67$
TABLE 3.3	Initial design parameters before the design change $\dots 71$
TABLE 3.4	Calculation results of application A and B72
TABLE 3.5	COUNTERMEASURE ALTERNATIVES TO IMPROVE THE SURFACE
TEMPI	ERATURE OF APPLICATION B73
TABLE 3.6	Initial design parameters and ITVs in the development stage $\dots 79$
TABLE 3.7	$ITVs$ developed in the support stage $\ldots \ 81$
TABLE 4.1	DIFFERENCES AMONG THE THREE PRODUCTS

## List of Figures

Figure Tit	le	Page
FIGURE 1.1	INQUIRIES INTO SMARTPHONE THERMAL PROBLEMS (NATIONAL	
Consur	MER AFFAIRS CENTER OF JAPAN, 2014)	2
FIGURE 1.2	GRAPH INDICATING SMARTPHONE THICKNESS	2
FIGURE 1.3	MINIATURIZATION TREND OF SEMICONDUCTOR COMPONENTS	4
FIGURE 1.4	TYPICAL COMPONENT LAYOUT OF A SMARTPHONE	5
FIGURE 1.5	CROSS-SECTIONAL VIEW OF A TYPICAL COMPONENT LAYOUT AND H	EAT
TRANSF	ER OF A SMARTPHONE	5
FIGURE 1.6	CONVENTIONAL THERMAL DESIGN FOR TEMPERATURE RISE OF A	
PORTAB	LE ELECTRONIC PRODUCT	6
FIGURE 1.7	DSM OF THE DESIGN PROCESS	10
FIGURE 1.8	THERMAL PROBLEM IN THE PRODUCT LIFECYCLE	10
FIGURE 1.9	EXAMPLE OF SOFTWARE UPDATE RELEASE TIMINGS	12
FIGURE 1.10	PROPOSED THERMAL DESIGN APPROACH	21
FIGURE 1.11	THERMAL INTERFACES BETWEEN HARDWARE MODULES FOR	
DISTRIB	BUTED DESIGN (SEKI ET AL. 2011A)	23
FIGURE 2.1	SYSTEM MODELING IN THERMAL DESIGN VIEW	27
FIGURE 2.2	SEQUENCE DIAGRAM FOR FUNCTIONAL DESIGN	27
FIGURE 2.3	STATE MACHINE DIAGRAM FOR PROCESSOR POWER STATE	28
FIGURE 2.4	ACTIVITY DIAGRAM FOR TEMPERATURE RISE	29
FIGURE 2.5	COMPOSITION OF THERMAL SYSTEM ELEMENTS	31
FIGURE 2.6	RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN EQUATIONS AND DESIGN PARAMETERS F	FOR
PREDIC	TING TEMPERATURE	31
FIGURE 2.7	BOUNDARY CONDITIONS BETWEEN MODULE DESIGNS	34
FIGURE 2.8	COMMUNICATION FOR ARCHITECTURE DESIGN BETWEEN DISTRIBU	TED
MODULI	E DESIGNS USING ITVS	36
FIGURE 2.9	EXAMPLE OF A COMPONENT LAYOUT OF A DIGITAL CAMERA	37
FIGURE 2.10	RELATIONSHIPS OF SYSTEM ELEMENTS DESCRIBED IN MDM	39
FIGURE 2.11	THERMAL COUPLING MATRIX (TCM)	40
FIGURE 2.12	EXAMPLE OF THE TEMPERATURE DISTRIBUTION IN A DIGITAL CAM	IERA43
FIGURE 2.13	EXAMPLES OF ARCHITECTURE CANDIDATES	44
FIGURE 2.14	RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN SYSTEM ELEMENTS DESCRIBED IN THE	MDM
(S2)		46

FIGURE 2.15	5 THERMAL COUPLING MATRIX (S2)	47
FIGURE 2.16	3 THERMAL COUPLING MATRIX (S3)	47
FIGURE 2.17	7 PROPOSED THERMAL DESIGN PROCESS FOR A PORTABLE ELECTRONIC	
PRODU	CT USING ITVS	50
FIGURE 3.1	MECHANISM OF TEMPERATURE RISE IN AN ELECTRONIC PRODUCT	54
FIGURE 3.2	TEMPERATURE CAUSING LOW-TEMPERATURE BURN INJURIES AS A FUNCTION OF	
CONTAC	T TIME (MORITZ AND HENRIQUES, 1947)	54
FIGURE 3.3	TYPICAL TEMPERATURE RISE CURVE	55
FIGURE 3.4	ACTIVITY DIAGRAM OF TEMPERATURE RISE IN AN ELECTRONIC PRODUCT	56
FIGURE 3.5	DIMENSIONS OF A SIMPLIFIED ELECTRONIC PRODUCT	59
FIGURE 3.6	HEAT TRANSMISSION THROUGH THE CROSS-SECTION OF A SIMPLIFIED ELECTRON	IC
PRODUC	т	59
FIGURE 3.7	ACTIVITY AND CONSTRAINT RELATIONS OF HEAT GENERATION AND TRANSFER	61
FIGURE 3.8	PARAMETRIC DIAGRAM OF TEMPERATURE CONSTRAINT	62
FIGURE 3.9	RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN SYSTEM ELEMENTS OF A SMARTPHONE DESCRIBED IN	
MDM		63
FIGURE 3.10	SIMULATION RESULT ASSUMING INITIAL PARAMETERS LISTED IN TABLE 3.1	65
FIGURE 3.11	Relationship between power and allowable playing time (Thickness: $ au$	"=
15mm).		67
FIGURE 3.12	SIMULATION RESULT OF ALTERNATIVE 1 (REDUCING POWER CONSUMPTION IN TH	ΗE
ITVS)		68
FIGURE 3.13	Relationship between thermal conductivity of top part and allowable	Е
PLAYING	TIME (THICKNESS: $T = 15$ MM)	68
FIGURE 3.14	Simulation result of alternative 2 (reducing temperature at the	
BOTTOM	I SURFACE)	69
FIGURE 3.15	THERMAL RISK OF APPLICATIONS A AND B	72
FIGURE 3.16	THERMAL PROBLEM IN THE SUPPORT STAGE OF LIFECYCLE	76
FIGURE 3.17	Thermal management process for a software changes in the support	
STAGE		76
FIGURE 3.18	VERIFICATION WORKFLOW	78
FIGURE 3.19	Relations of system elements of a smartphone described in case that	
OPERAT	ING FREQUENCY IS CHANGED (COUNTERMEASURE ALTERNATIVE 1)	82
FIGURE 3.20	Relations of system elements of a smartphone described in case that	
CHARGI	NG STATES IS DISABLED (COUNTERMEASURE ALTERNATIVE 2)	83

FIGURE 4.1	COMPOSITION OF THERMAL SYSTEM ELEMENTS FOR ANALYZING PRODUCT
THERM	AL QUALITY IN THE PRODUCTION STAGE
FIGURE 4.2	ACTIVITY DIAGRAM OF HEAT GENERATION AND TRANSFER CAUSING
TEMPER	AATURE RISE CONSIDERING HEAT TRANSFER THROUGH OTHER ELECTRICAL
PARTS	
FIGURE 4.3	ACTIVITY AND CONSTRAINT RELATIONS CONSIDERING THE LEAKAGE
CURREN	VT EFFECT
FIGURE 4.4	PARAMETRIC DIAGRAM OF THE TEMPERATURE CONSTRAINT CONSIDERING
THE LEA	AKAGE CURRENT EFFECT
FIGURE 4.5	PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT WORKFLOW
FIGURE 4.6	VARIABILITY IN THRESHOLD VOLTAGE
FIGURE 4.7	TEMPERATURE AND LEAKAGE POWER RELATIONS
FIGURE 4.8	VARIABILITY IN SURFACE TEMPERATURE
FIGURE 4.9	COMPONENT SORTING FOR VARIOUS PRODUCTS

### **Abbreviations**

CFD	Computational Fluid Dynamics
CPU	Central Processing Unit
CMOS	Complementary Metal-Oxide Semiconductor
DMM	Domain Mapping Matrix
DSM	Design Structure Matrix
DSP	Digital Signal Processor
EMC	Electromagnetic Compatibility
ESD	Electrostatic Discharge
HD	High Definition
ITVs	Initial Target Values
IC	Integrated Circuit
ICT	Information and Communication Technology
MDM	Multiple-Domain Matrix
OS	Operating System
PC	Personal Computer
PWB	Printed Wiring Board
SysML	System Modeling Language
TCM	Thermal Coupling Matrix
TIM	Thermal Interface Material

### Nomenclature

$A_{s_i}$	Surface area
$C_l$	Load capacitance of a semiconductor
F	Operating voltage frequency
dT	Temperature rise
h	Heat transfer coefficient
Ils	Subthreshold leakage current
k	Boltzmann's constant k
l	length
n	Subthreshold coefficient
$P_{chg}$	Power consumption by battery charging
$P_{per}$	Power consumption of peripheral components
Q	Heat dissipation of a product
$Q_{chg}$	Heat dissipation by the voltage conversion loss
$Q_p$	Heat dissipation of a semiconductor processor
$Q_{per}$	Heat dissipation of peripheral components
$Q_{ps}$	Heat dissipation of a power supply unit
$Q_{i}$	Heat transfer
$R_{s_i}$	Equivalent thermal resistance
R <sub>mec</sub>	Thermal resistance of mechanical structures
St <sub>chg</sub>	State of battery charging
St <sub>per</sub>	State of peripherals
t	Thickness
T <sub>amb</sub>	Ambient temperature
$T_{pwb}$	Temperature of a PWB
$T_{max}$	Maximum temperature
$T_p$	Temperature of a semiconductor processor
$T_s$	Surface temperature
Ut	Temperature voltage
$V_{dd}$	Operating voltage
$V_s$	Supply voltage
$V_{th}$	Threshold voltage
w	Width
$\lambda_i$	Thermal conductivity

(Intentionally Blank)

## Chapter 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Research background

#### **1.1.1 Thermal problems in portable electronic products**

The risks of low-temperature burn injuries during utilization of a portable electronic product have already been reported. Portable electronic products can heat up considerably, especially when the product handles content-rich applications such as video games or HD video recordings (Consumer Reports 2012; Qualcomm 2012). Each component of the product has an optimum operating temperature range. Temperatures exceeding this range may damage the product. Moreover, high enclosure temperatures induce low-temperature burn injuries if the user touches the product. Even temperatures perceived as relatively comfortable to the touch may cause burn injuries when the contact is maintained for prolonged periods. Low-temperature burn injuries caused using laptop PCs have been reported to call attention to this issue (National Institute of Technology and Evaluation 2015). In addition, non-IT products can cause low-temperature burn injuries during the utilization. For example, the possibility of low-temperature burn injuries while shooting videos with digital video camcorders was reported by a manufacture (Canon 2012). However the heat spot of a camera is on the opposite side of its grip; nevertheless, some users may use both hands during shooting. In that case, there is a possibility of contacting the heat spot. Although the possibility of touching the heat spot was less, the manufacture was still concerned about the thermal problem.

The number of inquiries into smartphone thermal problems, in the form of consumer complaints, increased between the years 2009 and 2012 (National Consumer Affairs Center of Japan 2014) as shown in Figure 1.1 Both the number of inquiries and that of harmful incidents have rapidly increased since 2009. At the same time, there are other trends that many consider to be the causes of the accelerating temperature rise incidents reported in smartphone products. There is a trend of thickness of a typical smartphone product, as shown in Figure 1.2, which increases temperature rise incidences because of decreased product surface areas from which heat is dissipated and increased difficulties

in the areas of heat spreading and thermal conductance with respect to the materials installed in the product.



Figure 1.1 Inquiries into smartphone thermal problems (National Consumer Affairs Center of Japan, 2014)



Figure 1.2 Graph indicating smartphone thickness

In addition, it is assumed that the data processing performance is being further increased, causing increases in power consumption. As shown in Figure 1.3, the semiconductor fabrication process is being miniaturized. The processor, one of the semiconductor components, is usually costlier than other electrical parts. Miniaturization of the semiconductor components contributes toward efficient mass production, which reduces the fabrication cost of each component. It also contributes to the integration of several functions, gathering large-scale circuits into one semiconductor component to achieve higher performances. However, miniaturization increases leakage power (Sekar 2013). Leakage current depends on temperature, and therefore, increases with temperature during product operation. The thermal design of electronic products has become increasingly complicated owing to this leakage current characteristic and the variation in semiconductors introduced during the production stage. During the electronic product development, increases and variations in the leakage currents of processors are difficult to predict prior to production. This unpredictable increment in current may cause higher temperature and degradation of the product quality.

However, semiconductors, including the central processing unit (CPU) and system-on-chip components, in smartphones consume very little power in the idle mode; it is the power dissipation during prolonged use that must be suppressed to prevent temperature rises. Semiconductors exceed their recommended operating temperature range when run at their maximum frequency for a long period (Benson 2014). The software in the operating system (OS) controls the states of the semiconductors to limit the operating frequencies during high load use cases such as video recording, playing games, or streaming media.

In general, portable electronic products are made of several layers of modules. Figure 1.4 shows the hardware components of a typical smartphone, which include a display, a printed wiring board (PWB), and a battery. The mechanical structures include an enclosure. A semiconductor processor is mounted on a PWB. Figure 1.5 shows a typical layout of these components and illustrates the heat transfer in a cross-sectional view. The composition is quite similar to that of other portable electronic products such as digital cameras or portable video game players.

As shown in Figure 1.6, which illustrates conventional thermal design measures relevant to the temperature rise mechanism, several activities increase the risk of low-temperature burn injuries. First, a semiconductor processor runs a software

algorithm. Then, heat is generated in the processor and transferred to other components. The heat transfer causes a temperature rise on the enclosure surface, inducing the risk of a low-temperature burn injury.

To reduce or eliminate low-temperature burn injuries, the various measures shown in Figure 1.6 are applied to a product's thermal design, such as modification of the component layout and installation of thermal conductive devices including thermal interface materials (TIM) and heat spreading devices (Figure 1.5). These measures related to mechanical design approach are commonly applied to moderate the temperature distribution. However, when mechanical structures spread heat, the heat-spreading capacity is constrained by the product size. Other measures related to electrical and software design approaches are also applied in the thermal design of portable electronic products. Power consumption reduction techniques are employed to eliminate redundant computations. Control of semiconductor states during operation is also employed to limit heat dissipation. It has become increasingly difficult to satisfy the design requirements, including thermal properties, of portable electronic products during development. Because the trend of further increasing temperature has reduced the thermal design margins for unexpected design changes, it is necessary to predict thermal qualities in cooperation with software and hardware designs to eliminate low-temperature burn injuries.



Figure 1.3 Miniaturization trend of semiconductor components



Figure 1.4 Typical component layout of a smartphone



Figure 1.5 Cross-sectional view of a typical component layout and heat transfer of a smartphone



Figure 1.6 Conventional thermal design for temperature rise of a portable electronic product

#### 1.1.2 Complexity in thermal design

Complexity during product development is amplified by the number of attributes in each product category. Table 1.1 shows the attributes of four product categories. The attributes include market volume, development period, structural complexity, and use cases. In the table, the professional electronics category includes broadcasting, medical, and telecommunication equipment. Consumer electronic products include the portable electronic products covered in this dissertation, such as smartphones, tablets, digital cameras, portable video game players, and small laptops. A comparison of consumer electronic products with other product categories shows that the development and production occurs within a very short period despite their large production volume. However, consumer electronic products generally comprise fewer components than products in other categories, which is important since the variability in each component's characteristics can affect the quality of a large number of produced units. It is therefore necessary to reduce this variability despite the short production period.

	Market Volume (#unit/year)	Development period	Structural Complexity	Use case (#application)
		(#year)	(#parts)	
Aerospace	Small	Long	Large	Small
Automotive	Medium	Long	Large	Small
Professional Electronics	Small	Medium	Medium	Small
Consumer Electronics	Large	Short	Small	Large

 Table 1.1
 Attributes of the four product categories

Table 1.2 shows examples of user requirements for portable products. Gebauer et al. (2008) found that quality characteristics including functionality, portability, performance, and usability are highly valued by users of portable electronic products such as smartphones and laptops. The product size limits portability. While processing speed affects performance, in many portable electronic products, it is designed to be limited to prevent additional temperature rises under high-temperature conditions. Thermal design during product development must consider the trade-off between portability and performance. Companies that develop or sell products are responsible for their product's quality, which includes its thermal quality, to prevent low-temperature burn injuries during utilization. Because portable electronics products are touched by users for prolonged periods, their thermal quality must be satisfied considering human contact. In addition, Falaki et al. (2010) studied the variation in smartphone uses by different users. Selection of test conditions, as well as the availability of such tests, is also considered in product quality assurance. Because product design depends on the business model and product features (Ulrich and Eppinger 2007), thermal design is a fundamental technology that is implemented in different ways.

Factor	Examples
Functionality	Voice call, Messaging, Camera
Portability	Dimensions, Weight
Performance	Stability, Battery life, Processing speed
Usability	Display, Keyboard, Ease of use, Sound
Network connectivity	Network access, Near Field Communication

 Table 1.2
 Examples of user requirements for portable products (Gebauer et al. 2008)

As shown in Table 1.3, which describes the relation between quality characteristic and technological disciplines, thermal quality is important in software, electrical, and mechanical technological disciplines. Verification of a product's thermal quality requires that the modules used in each of these technological disciplines are integrated. A design structure matrix (DSM), given in Figure 1.7, describes the design work flow of a portable electronic product. As shown in the matrix, the modules that constitute the product are designed at distributed sites or different enterprises regardless of the architecture in question. The design specifications of the modules are distributed to each module design after concept design. Some iterative work is planned to occur during module design. Then, modules are integrated and verified in sequence. However, their electromagnetic compatibility (EMC) and other quality characteristics can be verified with electrical parts, mechanical structures, and thermal design targets for all modules that include software, electrical parts, and mechanical structures. Therefore, verification of the thermal quality of a product is difficult in the early development stages. In case a thermal problem is found during verification in the late development stages, carrying out iterative work will cause deviations from the development schedule. If the problem is related to interactions between different technological disciplines, iterative work may affect not only one module design but also the design of the whole product.

To include the possibility of iterative work during the development stage, the thermal design must be considered during the various stages of a product lifecycle. As shown in Figure 1.8, the modules are then implemented or fabricated with different pre-planned timings. In general, electrical parts such as semiconductors, displays, and cameras take longer to fabricate than mechanical structures. Software is installed onto hardware, which consists of electrical parts and mechanical structures, after some parts of the hardware have been integrated. In addition, the relations between the organizations who participate in product development are often complicated. Many components of a product are designed by different organizations based on different disciplines or stages of the product lifecycle. Some of these organizations are often different enterprises. Therefore, lack of communication between design groups is also a concern during product development. It is difficult to comprehend the effect that each design parameter of the various components will have on the final product quality. The impact of the design decisions cannot be simply estimated. Furthermore, the whole product system must be considered by taking into account various factors such as product cost, performance, manufacturability, safety, disposability, regulatory compliance, usability, maintainability, and overall quality (Siemens 2015).

	Software	Electrical	Mechanical
Thermal	х	х	х
EMC (Electromagnetic compatibility)		х	х
ESD (Electrostatic discharge)		х	х
Corrosion		х	х
Signal Intensity		х	
Structural Strength			х

 Table 1.3
 Relations between quality characteristics and technological disciplines

				-		2. Module											2
			Product		Software		re	Electrical Parts			arts	Mechanical Structures			Product		
				а	b	с	d	е	f	g	h	i	j	k	Ι	m	n
	duct	а	Product Planning		o												
-	Pro	b	Concept Design w/o Architecture Definition	0		х			Х				х			X	X
	are	с	Software Functional Design		ο		0	х								X	k X
	oftwa	d	Coding/Implementation and Test			0		0								х	X
	Š	е	Verification with Electrical Parts Distributed				0				0						
0	arts	f	Floor Planning design of		o					о	х	х				x	X
odule	al P	g	Detail Design modules						ο		o	o				Х	х
2. M	ctric	h	Fabrication and Test (Signal Intensity)							ο		0					
	Ele	i	Verification with Mechanical Structure (EMC, ESD, etc.)								o				0		
	iical Ires	j	Component Layout		o									0	х	×r	<b>∦</b> ×/
	char uctu	k	Detail Design										ο		ο	х	X
	Me Str	Ι	Fabrication and Test (Structural Strength)											ο			/
~	duct	m	Integration and Verification (Thermal, etc.)		0			0				ο			ο	ľ	0
	Pro	n	Validation		0											0	

O: Planned Process, X: Undesirable Iteration, X: Fatal Iteration

Figure 1.7 DSM of the design process



Figure 1.8 Thermal problems in the product lifecycle

Another concern in thermal design is the change in heat generation conditions after the product development is completed. During the production stage, variability in component characteristics affects the quality of several produced units. It is necessary to reduce the variability earlier, after only a short period of production. This dissertation proposes to use system modeling to cope with this specific production issue. Thermal designs of electronic products have become increasingly complicated as leakage currents are increasing, causing higher temperatures, and because of the variability.

To prevent the degradation of a product's quality that is caused by the uncertain variability in its component characteristics, applications of both robust design and numerical analysis have been explored to determine the factors that affect these characteristics (Miyazaki 2013, Katagiri and Toi 2014). Penetration of information and communication technology (ICT) into manufacturing is referred to as "Industrie 4.0." This process increases the efficiencies of collaborations within or outside fabrication plants to improve productivity, reliability, and flexibility (Ministry of Economy 2015). To decrease the variability in component characteristics, autonomous control systems based on robotics and sensing technologies are introduced in the assembly process (Matue et al. 2015). Simulations are employed during product design to increase the flexibility of a production system (Kagermann et al. 2013). Simulation models based on system models are used in architecture exploration in the early stages of product design.

Additionally, OS software updates during support cause state changes in the operation of electrical parts. Post-purchase installation of software, including applications and new OSs, now constitute the bulk of product variation (Kuusela 2012). As shown in Figure 1.9, an official version of Android OS is released several times a year, which means that new OS updates occur during usage, especially if the product is being used for many years. In 2013, the number of available Android applications had already reached one million (Google 2013). However, verification resources and measures to decrease temperature rises are limited after development. For such product maintenance during the support stage, additional hardware implementations are not available and the number of hardware engineers is limited. However, if a software algorithm varies the load on the electrical parts, such as on the processor, the software updates incur thermal risk to the electronic products. Because the above-mentioned software changes occur frequently, verification of consumer electronic products must be efficient to address the large number of applications in use.

Thermal design is the realization of appropriate design specifications to satisfy thermal quality during utilization. Considering the complexity in thermal design throughout the product lifecycle, it is necessary to design the product architecture in thermal design view as early in the product development stage as possible. Otherwise, fatal iterative work will occur in the development stage or product quality will be degraded in the production or support stage.



Figure 1.9 Example of software update release timings

#### 1.1.3 Conventional thermal management

Various thermal management techniques have been developed for preventing damage and burns, such as those described in Figure 1.6. However, many of these techniques were developed for mechanical disciplines, while electrical and software approaches are being investigated and implemented nowadays.

Table 1.4 presents an overview of thermal management techniques for portable electronic products. The physical layout of modules, i.e., the electrical parts and mechanical structures, is an important consideration for heat spreading (Gurrum et al.

2012). In general, several heat sources are located inside a portable electronic product. Component layouts must maintain distances between these heat sources and promote heat spreading. In addition, heat transfer to components that are formed of high-thermal-conductivity materials is important for spreading heat. Metal frames, PWBs, and batteries are examples of components that exhibit high thermal conductivity. Thermal conductivity is a material property that refers to the amount of heat transferred per unit volume. In general, a metal, such as copper or aluminum, has higher thermal conductivity than plastic, glass, and air. PWB contains copper circuit patterns. Batteries such as lithium-ion batteries comprise high-thermal-conductivity materials as electrodes.

While designing component layouts to promote heat transfer and spread is a fundamental technique of thermal design, component layouts are also designed to perform various system functions. Therefore, component layouts must be designed with adequate investigations to consider the various constraints, not only thermal quality. To investigate a large number of cases, thermal simulations using computational fluid dynamics (CFD) for verifying the physical properties of prototypes (Seki 2008, Gurrum 2012) are often used to save time and costs. In CFD simulations, dimensions, layouts, and material properties of components, such as electrical parts and mechanical structures, are modeled; then, the heat dissipation value for each power consumption level of the many components is applied to heat sources such as semiconductors.

Because CFD simulation is performed with detail design information, thermal network analysis is also used with rough design information in the concept stage or beginning of the development stage. Because calculation is simple and not necessary to introduce special environment for simulation, thermal network analysis is often appropriate to system verification before design information is being detailed. Thermal network analysis is a common approach for estimating temperature rise in simplified systems (Hatakeyama et al. 2010, Yazawa and Bar-Cohen, 2002). In the calculation, thermal resistance of each object is expressed in equivalent thermal network. In this method, heat transmission is modelled as an electrical network, in which thermal resistance, temperature and heat transfer are analogous to electrical resistance, voltage and current, respectively.

Thermal solution	Example
Hardware component layout	Separating heat sources
	Heat transfer to metal structure
	Heat transfer to battery
Heat spreading device installation	Cupper sheet / frame
	Aluminum sheet / frame
	Graphite sheet
	Heat pipe / Heat spreader
Thermal interface material	Thermally conductive sheet
installation	Thermal grease
	Thermal compound
	Thermal adhesive
Forced air convection device	Air cooling fan
installation	
Power reduction in electrical parts	Low-voltage processor
	Clock gating
	Power gating
	High efficiency power amplifier /
	power supply / display
Dynamic power management	Dynamic voltage and frequency
	Thermal throttling
	i nermai urounng

 Table 1.4
 Thermal management techniques for portable electronic products

In addition to optimizing the layouts of components that perform basic functions in an electronic product for heat transfer, mechanical heat spreading devices are also often installed; they have the sole purpose of enhancing the thermal design. Besides additional copper and aluminum plates, graphite sheets made of carbon are typically used to spread heat near the product surface (Smalc et al. 2005). To transfer heat to a product's large surface area, a heat pipe utilizes the phase transition of water contained in a copper enclosure. Heat pipes that are now commonly used in laptops have been

developed to be downsized to suit various products, including smartphones (Aoki et al. 2011, NEC 2013).

The installation of a thermal interface material (TIM) is another conventional thermal solution. TIMs have been developed and introduced into electronic products to transfer heat—especially between semiconductors and heat transfer or spreading devices. Most TIMs installed in electronic products have silicon or acrylic base and fillers that have high thermal conductivity. There are various TIMs with differing hardness values, installation methods, and thermal conductivities (Bayba and Washington 2012, Gwinn and Webb 2002). Thermally conductive sheet, which are often referred to as thermal pads or thermal cushions, are essentially soft sheets. Meanwhile, thermal grease is a high-viscosity liquid. Other forms of TIMs include moisture-cured liquids or adhesive tapes.

An air cooling fan is installed in many laptops and in some camcorders. However, this installation requires room for a fan and a channel for the air to flow; studies on small cooling fans are on-going. Instead of rotational fans, linear-stroke piezoelectric fans have also been studied owing to their compactness inside consumer electronic products (Kimber el al. 2009).

Power reduction in electrical parts is also a fundamental approach of thermal design. Installation of semiconductor processors that can be operated at lower voltages is effective at reducing power consumption (Tiwari et al. 1998). To suppress power consumption, deactivation of part of a large-scale integration process that is not necessary for completing an active processing task, such as clock gating or power gating, is implemented in many semiconductor processors. Technologies to reduce leakage current have also been developed, such as Fin field effect transistors (Hisamoto et al. 2000). Additionally, improving the efficiency of other electrical parts such as displays or amplifiers is necessary to develop more efficient portable electronic products.

Software power control techniques ensure a product's thermal safety, quality, and reliability (Jung 2012). Dynamic voltage and frequency scaling is a technique that controls the operating voltage and frequency of a semiconductor processor considering the processor's temperature and power consumption efficiency over short periods. Conversely, thermal throttling is a technique that suppressed the temperature rise, especially on the product surface. This technique controls the operating frequency of a

processor and other states of peripherals, such as battery charging and display brightness, over relatively long sampling periods.

Besides various thermal management techniques for each module design, collaborative design is necessary from the viewpoint of the whole product. Thermal design of portable electronic products has become more complicated owing to various issues such as frequent software changes and variability in the components' characteristics. If product behavior is changed by software design, the thermal quality of the product is affected. Therefore, not only hardware but also software techniques are required to manage product temperature. However, simply implementing these thermal management techniques is not sufficient; verification for products across various disciplines is necessary for efficient product development. Otherwise, design changes may degrade the thermal quality or a developed product many contain unnecessary margins that hamper product quality.

# 1.1.4 Design approach to manage structural complexity of a product

To efficiently design complex systems, the relations between system elements must first be clarified. DSM was used to visualize the dependencies of elements of a product. Clarkson, Simons, and Eckert (2004) described a method for predicting the risk of design changes using a DSM. Change propagation paths were developed and reduced in terms of the likelihood and impact of each given change. Hamraz et al. (2013) developed an engineering change management method for assessing and improving the existing method via a requirement-based benchmarking approach.

Further, a domain mapping matrix (DMM) can be used to examine the interactions across domains. Using a DMM, Danilovic and Browning (2007) illustrated the interactions in a product development project that contained a minimum of five domains, including the product system, process, organization, tool, and goal. The product system consisted of product functions and design parameters, while the goal included requirements and constraints. To manage structural and behavioral complexity, Diepold et al. (2010) proposed combining structural and hybrid dynamical system models. The approach, which combined structural and mathematical modeling, resulted in a discrete-time dynamical representation of the system's dynamics. In this dissertation,

the author applies MDM, which comprises both DSMs and DMMs, to describe the relations among the various system elements.

As an application of a matrix-based model, Michelena and Papalambros (1995) studied hierarchical optimization for product design. To optimize relations among decomposed elements of a system, the dependencies of design variables were described using a function dependence table. They applied this optimization method to design problems in the mechanical design of a power train. This approach can be applied to optimize the design parameters after the system architecture has been defined. In this dissertation, the author aims to specify the design parameters based on a system model that was developed for architecture design in thermal design view.

Because the thermal design targets all of the modules that include software, electrical parts, and mechanical structures, quality of developed products must be verified as a system. In other words, thermal design of the consumer electronic product are based on collaboration among design in multi-disciplines that include the electrical design to consume power consumption and mechanical design to spread heat, and software design to conduct semiconductor's behavior. While development of the electronic products is highly complicated, completion in concept design contributes to decrease unintended iterations of design and improve yield ratio in the production. Therefore it is very important to perform verifications in the early stage of the product development, especially in case that a system includes interdependencies among modules. In case that thermal problem is found at verification in the late stage of the development, iterative work will be fatal to maintain the development schedule. However thermal management techniques that described at previous subsection are important, balancing in module designs is also necessary. Otherwise, design changes including software changes may cause degradation of thermal quality or developed product contains much unnecessary margins against proper product quality.

For a collaborative design to prevent thermal problems such as low-temperature burn injuries, this dissertation proposes a design approach using a system model to derive product design specifications. This approach is also called a model-driven development method. Using a system model, the system design can satisfy the system requirements by allocating the requirements to the system components (Friedenthal et al. 2014). A system model covers the interactions between the product modules, which include all software and hardware components. To achieve a sufficient thermal quality, a thermal

simulation model was developed based on a system model that describes the thermal behavior according to the product's basic functions.

To efficiently explore the design parameters of the modules, the author describes a system model by SysML. SysML can clarify the dependencies among the system elements, enabling model descriptions from operational, functional, and physical viewpoints (Balmelli 2007). This approach uses multiple viewpoints to separately address different engineering concerns while maintaining an integrated representation of the underlying design. Eguchi et al. (2012) proposed multilayer modeling of the structure, behavior, or requirements using SysML to describe the product design information. They utilized the method to carry out an impact analysis of changes to the initial design.

Thus, most research findings into managing structural complexity were applied during the product development or concept design. Thermal design of a portable electronic product is important throughout the stages of a product lifecycle, as mentioned above. Therefore, this dissertation applies thermal design using system modeling into product lifecycle stages, including development, production, and support.

#### 1.2 Research purpose and scope

#### **1.2.1 Research purpose**

This dissertation aims to prevent low-temperature burn injuries during utilization of portable electronic products. The author proposes a thermal design method to achieve sufficient thermal quality and to prevent fatal iterative work in the various product lifecycle stages. In the proposed thermal design method, the author employs system modeling to describe the product architecture in thermal design view. An architectural description includes one or more architecture views (ISO 2011). To describe architecture using design parameters in the specified view, the relationship of the various design parameters among different views must be clarified. In accordance with the complexity of product design that involves different technological disciplines and various thermal problems in the product lifecycle, a system model is used to describe the behaviors of heat generation and transfer as well as the interactions of the system

elements. The proposed method should be practically applicable product development. The aims of this research are summarized below:

- To derive thermal design specification for portable electronic products of satisfactory thermal quality in which the possibility of low-temperature burn injuries is predicted using software and hardware design parameters.
- To prevent fatal iterative work, factors that affect product thermal quality are continuously managed among all concerned parties, including module design groups, during the module development stage.
- To manage thermal problems efficiently in the development, production, and support stages, a system model is reused that reflects the changes in the heat generation condition.

#### 1.2.2 Research scope

# Characteristics of a portable electronic product in thermal design view

According to the above-mentioned research purpose, the author defined the research target as developing the proposed design method. In this dissertation, the surface temperature of a portable product was decreased below conditions that could possibly cause low-temperature burn injuries. The portable electronic products were typical small consumer electronic products, such as smartphones, tablets, digital cameras, and video game players.

This dissertation covers changes in heat generation conditions according to the operating condition of a semiconductor based on software commands. The software in this dissertation is the OS that controls the product's electrical parts including the semiconductor processor. The design parameters of the software include states of electrical parts, such as the operating frequency of a semiconductor processor, the state of battery charging, and the states of the peripherals.

To describe a prolonged utilization of the product, certain states of each electrical part were considered to be used for individual purposes, such as playing movies or games. The surface temperature of the product was considered to be its steady-state temperature. The temperature rise time was considerably shorter than the required usage time, and was hence, ignored. As described in Table 1.1, electronic products including portable electronic products have very short development periods in comparison with products in other categories such as automotive and professional electronics. Then, the products are developed in sequence. Therefore, many portable electronic products were developed referring to parent design information or similar products. Although details of the design information are uncertain, some basic functions and principal components of the products are often expected experientially at the time of the architecture design.

The composition of system elements is simplified as much as possible to describe system behaviors across different technological disciplines. When a thermal simulation based on the system model is performed in the concept or the early stage of development, detailed design information is limited; it may also not be possible to rigorously estimate the product's quality. Even if the simulation accuracy based on the simple structure of the system model is rough, it is often practical to consider this information with regards to design margins to minimize the possible degradation of thermal quality.

#### Proposed thermal design approach

The thermal design approach proposed in this dissertation is based on system analysis and a definition process for architecture design. INCOSE (2015) described that the purpose of system analysis is to provide a rigorous data and information foundation for technical understanding to aid decision-making across the product lifecycle. The activities of system analysis include preparation, performance, and management. System analysis is performed to select architecture alternatives that frame stakeholder concerns and meet system requirements.

Figure 1.10 shows the proposed thermal design approach for a portable electronic product using system modeling. For the architectural design in thermal design view, the system model was developed to describe heat generation and transfer behaviors. Equations based on the thermal behaviors are also described using design parameters that refer to both hardware and software components controlling the electrical parts. To predict thermal quality, the thermal simulation based on the system model is referred to the condition of low-temperature injuries.

To prevent fatal iterative work, target value boundary conditions for the module designs were determined to manage the factors that affect the thermal quality; these could then be shared with concerned parties including the module design groups. The target values are referred to as initial target values (ITVs) (Seki et al. 2011a). To describe the relation of the system elements in thermal deign view, a multiple-domain matrix (MDM) was employed in this dissertation. An MDM utilizes DSMs. Using an MDM, the boundary conditions of modules including ITVs were clarified.

For thermal management methods to eliminate low-temperature injuries during utilization, thermal design specification in the development and support stages was derived using the system model to describe the architecture in thermal design view. To manage the variability in component characteristics in the production stage, the system model was reused to describe the interactions between heat generation and transfer.

\_ Architecture design in thermal view

System model describes behaviors of heat generation and transfer

Thermal simulation referred to a condition of low-temperature injury

Target values of boundary conditions of module designs

Relationship diagram of system elements in thermal view

Application of the architecture

Thermal design specification at development and the support stages

Thermal management at the production stage

Figure 1.10 Proposed thermal design approach

#### Novelty of the proposed research

This dissertation proposes a collaborative design approach in a distributed design environment. For the distributed design sites of consumer electronic products, Seki et al. (2012) investigated a module-based design approach using SysML. They proposed structural and functional modeling that enabled all the design sites to share design information with the product model. They proposed the use of ITVs as tentative boundary conditions among modules such as electrical parts and mechanical structures (Seki et al. 2011a). Seki and Nishimura (2011b) also proposed a thermal design framework for a distribution design using DSMs and DMMs to analyze the physical interaction of modules. As shown in Figure 1.11, they determined the thermal interfaces of modules in a non-portable consumer electronic product that had an air cooling fan. In their study, forced air flow to dissipate heat was assigned as an ITV.

In these studies, although ITVs were practically used to communicate with each module design, these studies were based on the thermal design of hardware modules; the states of the electronic parts were not included in the design parameters. Because many functions of a portable electronic product are realized by software, the system model in this dissertation includes both hardware and software modules to evaluate heat generation during utilization. It is expected that thermal problems during the utilization of new applications such as video games (Consumer Reports 2012) can be simulated with design parameters including the states of the electrical parts. The description of a product's thermal behavior enables us to simulate its thermal quality even after product development. The author applied the system model to simulate how a product's thermal quality was influenced by software updates in the support stage and assess the variability in component characteristics in the production stage.

In addition, refereeing to a thermal simulation with the conditions under which low-temperature burn injuries occur enables the simulation of a product's thermal quality with the module's design parameters. To prevent accidents using the portable electronic products such as a smartphone, a laptop PC or a video camcorder (National consumer affairs center of Japan 2014, National Institute of Technology and Evaluation 2015, Canon 2012), this dissertation estimate possibility of low-temperature burn injury using thermal simulations. To manage factors that affect the thermal quality, this dissertation visualizes system elements and their interactions using the above-mentioned MDM. Concerned parties in referring thermal simulation including both hardware and
software design groups can collaboratively perform thermal design considering utilization of the product.



among hardware modules

Figure 1.11 Thermal interfaces between hardware modules for distributed design (Seki et al. 2011a)

## 1.3 Structure of the dissertation

This dissertation describes the thermal design of a portable electronic product with the aim of achieving satisfactory thermal quality and preventing fatal iterative work through the product lifecycle. This dissertation consists of five chapters. Chapter 1 describes the background and purpose of this research. Chapter 2 covers architecture design in thermal design view. The architecture design considered the distributed design environment of modules. In this chapter, the system model describes heat generation and transfer behaviors. Target values for the module design to prevent fatal iterative work are also defined in this chapter. Chapter 3 describes the thermal design specifications of a portable electronic product. Thermal simulations based on the system model were performed to prevent the conditions under which low-temperature burn

injuries occur. The thermal design specifications in the development stage and thermal management in the support stage are also described in this chapter. Chapter 4 introduces an application to a production system that takes into account the variability in the component characteristics. The system model was developed to describe the temperature dependency of the leakage current effect of a semiconductor processor. Finally, Chapter 5 provides conclusions and future work.

Related to the author's academic publications, Chapter 2 is based on a paper presented at an academic conference (Seki at el. 2015). The simulation model and application in the support stage in Chapter 3 are based on a journal article concerning product lifecycle management (Muraoka at el. 2015). Two applications in the development stage in Chapter 3 are based on papers presented at two academic conferences (Muraoka at el. 2013a, Muraoka at el. 2013b). The content of Chapter 4 is based on a journal article on the topic of mechanical engineering (Muraoka at el. 2016).

# Chapter 2

# Architecture Design within a Distributed Design Environment in Thermal Design View

## 2.1 Introduction

In this chapter, the architecture design of a portable electronic product is described in thermal design view. First, the thermal behavior related to the basic function of the product is modeled. To describe the architecture in thermal design view, the Systems Modeling Language (SysML) is employed. A system model describes the heat generation and transfer. The author considers the distributed design environment of module design during product development. To analyze the system in thermal design view, equations based on the thermal behavior of the components are described using the design parameters of the modules.

The system model for the thermal design management is then described. The target values of the module design are defined to prevent fatal iterative work. The target values, named internal target values (ITVs), are the boundary conditions of the modules in thermal design view. The ITVs that satisfy the thermal quality requirements of the product are explored with module designs at the concept design stage or at an early development stage.

To describe the relationships between the modules in thermal design view, a multiple-domain matrix (MDM) is employed. MDM comprises design structure matrices (DSMs) for function, behavior, and structure. To define the architecture, architecture candidates are assessed in thermal design view. Illustrating the system elements using MDM clarifies how the ITVs are related to the behavior and structure of modules for each architecture candidate. The architecture definition in the thermal design view is performed to assess the candidates to determine if they satisfy the thermal quality requirements. The author also describes the proposed thermal design process using a system model.

# 2.2 Development of a system model in thermal design view

## 2.2.1 System modeling of a portable electronic product

An overview of the system modeling process using SysML in the thermal design view is shown in Figure 2.1. For the performance of a portable electronic product in a certain use case, first, the necessary functions are described. Figure 2.2, which is the same as the diagram on the upper left in Figure 2.1, shows the sequence diagram for functional design. This figure describes the simplified basic functions that are performed in sequence. In this case, the functions for movie recording with a digital camera or the camera feature of a smartphone are illustrated as an example. After the product is turned on, power is supplied to the electrical parts, and optical functions such as focusing light and image sensing are performed. During the use case, data processing is continued for a prolonged period.

When the function is performed, a semiconductor processor that manipulates data is activated to operate at a certain state. The diagram on the upper right in Figure 2.1 is same state machine diagram shown in Figure 2.3. The state transition is described in this diagram. A state is assigned for each function, and the state of a semiconductor processor, such as a CPU core within an application processor or a digital signal processor (DSP), is indicated by an operating frequency while performing a function. In this example, a processor is activated at the operating frequency of one of three states. Such a processor consumes power in proportion to the operating frequency. The power consumption can be estimated by identifying the state of the processor performing the data processing function.

During the operation, the product exhibits the thermal behaviors of heat generation and transfer. The diagram at the lower right in Figure 2.1 is the activity diagram. The thermal behavior described in this diagram is shown in Figure 2.4. Because the temperature rise depends on the product structures, the thermal behavior that creates a temperature rise is allocated to the structures as shown in the figure. In the first activity in Figure 2.4, the software that controls the electrical parts performs data processing. The software assigns the states of the electrical parts at that particular time. Then, the electrical parts generate and transfer heat while consuming power for data processing, all of which is dissipated as heat. The mechanical structures transfer heat from inside the product to the surface.



3. Thermal behaviors allocated to structures induce temperature rise.

Figure 2.1 System modeling in thermal design view



Figure 2.2 Sequence diagram for functional design



Figure 2.3 State machine diagram for processor power state

The structural elements of the system are described using the block definition diagram shown on the bottom left in Figure 2.1. The product structure consists of modules such as software, electrical parts including a semiconductor processor, and mechanical structures. In addition to the heat generation that occurs in the electrical parts, heat is also transferred from the electrical parts to the mechanical structures. Therefore, the activity of heat transfer is decomposed to allocate it to both the electrical parts and mechanical structures. The activity of heat generation is allocated to the electrical parts. Because the design of the electrical parts and mechanical structures are often performed in different organizations, the management responsibility for the related design parameters must be distributed consistent with the decomposition.

By analyzing the three behaviors shown in Figure 2.1, the architecture candidates are developed in the thermal design view. Power consumption and temperature rise are simulated with equations described later. To obtain architecture candidates that satisfy the thermal quality requirements, iterations of the modeling process are usually performed. If the surface temperature of the product is expected to exceed the target for thermal quality, the states of the electrical parts or the allocation of thermal behaviors can be reviewed. For example, heat generation caused by data processing occurs in a semiconductor processor. Either an application processor or a digital signal processor

(DSP) is used to perform the data processing function. The allocation can be modified to improve heat generation and transfer, as described in later description.



Figure 2.4 Activity diagram for temperature rise

# 2.2.2 Preparation for system analysis using module design parameters

To analyze the architecture candidates in thermal design view, this dissertation defines a thermal system that consists of elements related to temperature rise for the purpose of system analysis. The block definition diagram shown in Figure 2.5 shows that the thermal system has a reference association path with the structure of a portable electrical product consisting of three modules, specifically software, electrical parts, and mechanical structures. The activities of the thermal behaviors are allocated to the thermal system. As mentioned above, the activity of task execution is to assign states of the electrical parts to perform the basic functions. Other activities, such as heat generation and heat transfer, are associated with constraints that are determined by the equations for the activities. To allocate the activities to modules as shown in Figure 2.4, the heat transfer through the mechanical structures. As product development progresses and becomes more detailed, the thermal system can be further decomposed to indicate the behaviors to be analyzed.

The temperature rise is calculated using equations for heat generation and transfer. The parametric diagram in Figure 2.6 shows the relationships between the equations and design parameters to estimate temperatures for the states of the electrical parts, such as a semiconductor processor. By using these equations for heat generation and heat transfer, it is possible to explore design parameters that satisfy the product thermal quality requirements. For example, operating voltage and load capacitance are design parameters for a semiconductor processor. To perform the data processing function, a semiconductor processor consumes power when operating. The amount of power consumption depends on the operating frequency, voltage, and load capacitance when the processor is fully activated. Almost all of the power consumed is converted into heat and dissipated from the processor. In addition to the semiconductor processor, a power supply unit and peripherals also consume power. Because the power supply losses are also converted into heat, the efficiency of the power supply is also a design parameter for the electrical parts in the thermal design view. Peripheral devices such as the display, speaker, and camera also consume power and generate heat.



Figure 2.5 Composition of thermal system elements



Figure 2.6 Relationships between equations and design parameters for predicting temperature

The design parameters related to heat transfer include the dimensions, position, and material properties such as thermal conductivity. Both the electrical parts and the mechanical structures transfer heat. The two heat transfer equations are for the electrical and mechanical modules and are most likely calculated by individuals. Because many electrical parts are designed by component suppliers and commonly used in many different applications, the dimensions and material properties of the electrical parts are already defined in the component specifications. If the difference between the design parameters for heat transfer of a custom-designed electrical component and that of an off-the-shelf component is negligible and can be ignored for the specific range of temperature rise, then the heat transfer through the electrical parts can be simplified in the equations. On the other hand, the mechanical structure can be flexibly designed to transfer heat in general.

Because a system model describes the behavior of components that are the responsibility of multiple disciplines, exploration of the design parameters can be performed in the presence of various technological design groups with various viewpoints. Even related disciplines can differ in their views. The interactions between design parameters that cause temperature increases are analyzed quantitatively to support the architecture assessment. Because enough information for modeling is not always available for the selection of an appropriate architecture candidate, a system analysis should be planned to consider the accuracy of simulation, the criteria for evaluation, and the detailed schedule of the product development. The accuracy of the simulation depends on the granularity of the decomposition and the degree of certainty of the design information. If at the concept or the early stage of development, the available design information details are limited or uncertain, it is practical to consider design margins.

## 2.3 Thermal design management using the system model

# 2.3.1 Setting target values of boundary conditions between modules

To prevent fatal iterative work, this dissertation proposes to define and manage the target values for module designs in the thermal design view. The author aims to set

feasible targets at an early stage of the development instead of at the time of integration and verification of the product. The target values are the boundary conditions of the module design for managing thermal quality.

The boundary conditions between modules are shown in Figure 2.7. The upper diagram in Figure 2.7 is the internal block diagram that describes the interfaces between modules in the thermal design view. As described in the activity diagram shown in Figure 2.4, the software that controls the electrical parts assigns states to them consistent with the operational command for a particular use case. While electrical parts, such as the semiconductor processor, perform data processing, heat is generated and is transferred through the electrical parts. Then, the heat is transferred to the mechanical structures and dissipated to the air through these structures. Because heat transfer activity causes a temperature rise in both the electrical parts and mechanical structures, the surface temperature of the product increases. The boundary conditions between modules include the states of the electrical parts, heat, and temperature. This dissertation manages these three boundary conditions as target values of module design to satisfy the thermal quality requirements of the product.

The target values, such as states of components, heat, and temperature, are indicated in the diagram of Figure 2.7, which is the same parametric diagram shown in Figure 2.6. As mentioned above, these boundary conditions can be calculated by using the design parameters of the module designs. Therefore, exploring design parameters that satisfy the thermal quality requirements of the product enables setting target values for the boundary conditions. The boundary conditions, designated as ITVs, are distributed to the module designs. Because each module design can be independent, the modules are then developed to satisfy the ITVs. This operation influences the thermal quality of the product.



Figure 2.7 Boundary conditions between module designs

In general, the task of developing consumer electronic products, including portable electronic products, is divided among different organizations and often distributed to different enterprises. Therefore, the lack of communication between independent module designs must be compensated for to develop a product that both satisfies the thermal quality requirements and eliminates unproductive design iterations. Figure 2.8 illustrates how the ITVs are created. To meet the system requirements, a system engineer or an architect develops the system model at the concept stage by designing the system architecture; this is done together with the concerned parties including the principal members of module designs and product planning. The system requirements are defined in the technical view, and they specify the system characteristics, attributes, functions, and performance that will meet the stakeholder requirements (INCOSE 2015). In this dissertation, the thermal quality requirements during utilization and the dimensions for providing appropriate portability are also included in the system requirements for a portable electronic product.

In exploring a module design that satisfies the thermal quality requirements of the product, the thermal design is performed using a thermal simulation based on the system model. Combinations of design parameters are analyzed using equations that describe thermal behavior. Because the thermal behavior is simply simulated using the design parameters of the modules, the module design can be explored by the concerned parties at a meeting. Otherwise, the analyses related to each module are performed by the relevant design group using that group's choice of simulation method. If the design information for the parent product is available, the exploration can be started on based on prior experience. Experimentation using prototyping or similar products also helps to explore suitable design parameters. The design parameters must be acceptable to each module design group. For example, the software design group defines how basic functions are performed by taking into account which electrical parts can be used. The mechanical design group defines where the hardware components, including the electrical parts, are located. The electrical design group defines the types of major electrical parts that are mounted to satisfy requirements in the various views including thermal design, taking other module designs into account. Because the design parameters selected must undergo the product development process, exploration of the design parameters is expected to be iterative.

After the combination of design parameters that satisfy the system requirements, including the product thermal quality requirements, are defined, the boundary conditions between modules are distributed to the module designs as the ITVs. Because the module design groups are often located in different countries or different enterprises, the lack of communication between groups about module designs may cause unproductive iterations with design changes. For a design change caused by a requirement change or compensation for inconsistency in module design, the ITVs are iteratively updated consistent with additional design exploration of modules using thermal simulation based on the system model as necessary. When the module developments satisfy the updated ITVs, this results in satisfaction of the criteria for the product thermal quality.

To prevent fatal iterative work and to facilitate adapting to design changes, ITV parameters should be chosen that positively affect the thermal quality requirements and allow control of the values during product development. At the early stage of development, many design parameters are abstract or uncertain until the details of the design information are defined. When the thermal system is decomposed, the number of parameters, such as boundary conditions between modules, is increased. It is important

to determine how much detail is present when the thermal system is decomposed and therefore to select ITV parameters consistent with the goals.



Figure 2.8 Communication for architecture design between distributed module designs using ITVs

# 2.3.2 Describing the relationships between the modules using MDM

To promote communication between module design groups, this dissertation describes the relationships between the components of the modules in thermal design view. As architecture design progresses, structural elements in the system model are tentatively defined. As an example, Figure 2.9 shows the component layout of a digital camera. The components are the principal and typical ones of portable electronic products. If the design information of a parent or a similar product is available, some of the principal components can be defined at the concept design stage. The application processor and DSP for data processing are mounted on a printed wiring board (PWB). A lens unit for image sensing is one of the principal components of a digital camera, and the structure is quite similar to that of a smartphone. There are nine components shown in the figure. Other electrical parts, such as a power supply unit and memory, are also mounted on the PWB. The image sensor for a camera function is also attached to the lens unit.



() components ignored in thermal view

Figure 2.9 Example of a component layout of a digital camera

Figure 2.10 shows an MDM that comprises DSMs and domain mapping matrices (DMMs) to describe the relationships between the system elements of the digital camera. The rows and columns of MDMs correspond to the composition of the system model, which includes functions, behavior, and structures. The function DSM constitutes the correlation matrix between the functions from the sequence diagram. The function–structure DMM is filled with functional allocations to the various structures. For example, a data processing function is allocated to a DSP, which is categorized as an electrical part.

The activity of thermal behavior and the boundary conditions between the first two activities in the software and electrical parts are allocated as behaviors. The boundary conditions are the states of the components that are allocated to the electrical parts. As a result of task execution, six electrical parts become active, consuming power and generating heat. The power consumption depends on the states of the semiconductor components to which the function is allocated.

Other boundary conditions such as heat are described in the DSM of the structures on the bottom right in Figure 2.10. There are three modules, such as software, electrical parts, and mechanical structures. The software includes an OS and an application and is also included in the structural elements of the product. While the OS controls the electrical parts, the operational commands depend on the application. The behavior that connects the hardware components is heat transfer. Heat is transferred from the electrical parts to the mechanical structures, which include a cavity. In the MDM in Figure 2.10, twelve paths of heat transfer between the modules are present. The heat generated by the electrical parts is transferred both to PWB and to a cavity that is filled with air. After the heat from PWB is transferred to the frame, then it is transferred from the frame to the enclosure. Finally, the heat is dissipated in the air.

Because the binary expression of heat transfer relationships between components does not indicate how much heat is transferred, the author describes the heat transfer value in the cells in the portion of the structure DSM of the hardware components. This portion of the matrix is on the bottom right of the MDM in Figure 2.10 and is named the thermal coupling matrix (TCM). Figure 2.11 shows the part of TCM for the case where the data processing function is allocated to DSP. In TCM, the values for heat transfer between structural components are shown in the cells with a clear background. Because heat transfer has direction, there are two types of values in the matrix. Negative value

above the diagonal means that heat is transferred from a component in row to a component in column. On the other hand, positive value above the diagonal means that heat is transferred from a component in column to a component in row. Values below the diagonal express the same heat transfer relations as above using the reversed sign. Also, temperatures of components are shown in diagonal cells. The temperatures of components are shown in the diagonal cells on a blue background.

								Structure																	
			F	ur	nct	io	n	Be	eha	avi	or	So	oft			Fler	etric	al P	arts			Mechanical			
				1					1		1	Wa	are		1							S	truc	ture	s
			Power supply	Focus light	Image Sensing	Data Proecssing	Transfer Data	Execute Tasks	States of Components	Generate Heat	Transfer Heat	SO	Application	Application processor	Image senor	DSP	Memory	Power supply unit	Peripherals	Battery	PWB	Frames	Lens Unit	Cavity	Enclosure
	c	Power supply						Х	Х	Х		Х						Х		Х	Х				
	<u>io</u>	Focus light	Х		Х			Х	Х				Х	Х	Х								Х		_
		Image Sensing	Х	Х				Х	Х	Х			Х	Х	Х				F		un	cti	on	al	
	Б.	Data Proecssing	Х		Х		Х	Х	Х	Х			Х	Х		Х			Func alloc x Beha				cat	tio	n
		Transfer Data	Х			Х		Х	х			Х		Х			Х				Х	Mechanic   Structure   Structure   Structure   Image: Structure  <			
	ō	Execute Tasks							Х			Х										b		ior	
	avi	States of Components						Х				Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х			3116	av	101	al
	eĥ	Generate Heat							Х					Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		all	00	at	IO	ו
	Ď	Transfer Heat								Х				Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
	ftwa e	OS											Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	k	Х						
	ŝ	Application										Х													
		Application processor										Х					_				Х			Х	
		Image senor										Х						IT'	Vs		Х	Х	Х	Х	
	arts	DSP										Х					L			L	Х			Х	
lre	al F	Memory										Х									Х			Х	
Ctr	ctric	Power supply unit										Х									Х			Х	
IL	Ше	Peripherals										Х									Х			Х	
S		Battery																			Х	Х		Х	Х
		PWB												Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х		Х	
	s al	Frames				Th	ner	ma	al						Х					Х	Х		Х	Х	Х
	anic	Lens Unit				Co	bul	olir	าส	Ma	atri	X			Х							Х			
	Aect Struc	Cavity				(T	C	<u></u>	-3					Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х			Х
	2 %	Enclosure				17											Х		Х		Х				

X: Existence of a relation

Figure 2.10 Relationships of system elements described in MDM



Figure 2.11 Thermal coupling matrix (TCM)

The elements of TCM can be quantitatively described using a thermal simulation. For example, the heat generated at the application processor is transferred to both the cavity and PWB. In TCM, it can be seen that more amount of heat from the application processor is transferred to the cavity of the mechanical structures than to PWB. Then, the heat is transferred to the enclosure via various paths. The surface temperature of the product depends on the heat dissipation from the enclosure. The calculated temperatures are given in the diagonal cells of TCM. The author applied a CFD simulation to calculate the values of heat transfer and peak temperatures of the components in this subsection. Instead, of a CFD simulation, a simplified simulation using a thermal network analysis can be used; the thermal network analysis is applied in Chapter 3. For both CFD and thermal network analysis, information of each component including dimensions, position and material properties such as thermal conductivity are necessary. A thermal network analysis based on simple equations is often practical, especially at the concept and early stages of development. Because the details of the component geometry are difficult to express in network analysis, the calculated temperatures are the averaged temperatures of each component. To calculate the temperature distribution in a

component, the component geometry is divided. Otherwise, for the evaluation, it is practical to add some margin to the temperature distribution to compensate for simulation uncertainties.

Because module design is detailed, and it changes often to achieve compromises with various requirements during product development, the selection of ITVs is important. Updating ITVs during development is expected. It is desirable that ITVs positively affect thermal quality requirements and have few constraints in adapting to the changes in the module design. If a change in the module design satisfies ITVs without changing the target value, a design change in other modules can be avoided. However, if the change in ITVs causes a limited change in the module design, the affordable selection of ITVs might be acceptable for module designs. Therefore, it is important to clarify how the components interact with each other and what constraints or concerns are associated with each component. While major electrical parts such as a semiconductor processor are difficult to replace with an alternative, some off-the-shelf parts are relatively easy to replace. An enclosure in a mechanical structure has more constraints in terms of dimensions and appearance than a frame does. Implementation of a sheet or adhesive often has fewer constraints if the production process can handle the implementation.

For efficient thermal design management, it is practical to eliminate ITVs that do not significantly affect thermal quality. Number of heat transfer paths is increased with number of components. If the physical structure is simple and certain heat transfer paths are dominant, it is practical to focus on the dominant heat transfer paths or regard sum of transferred heat as ITVs. Reducing the number of ITVs contributes to reduced management costs and increased flexibility for changes in module design. As shown in Figure 2.10, there are 12 heat-transfer paths designated as ITVs between electrical parts and mechanical structures. Power consumption of the electrical components is 2.2 W in total. If the paths that transfer less than 5% of the total heat are ignored, the number of ITVs can be reduced to seven. The number of components is expected to increase as module design becomes increasingly detailed through the course of development. Prioritizing ITVs contributes to improved efficiency of product development.

The visualized relationships between the system elements in the thermal design view promote understanding of the influences on module designs. If changes in a module design cause inconsistency in satisfying the ITVs mentioned above, the thermal quality of the product will be degraded. By illustrating ITVs in MDM as boundary conditions between modules, the influence of design changes can be traced, and ITVs that are related to the design change can be identified. Although diagrams using SysML can describe such interactions between system elements, MDM simply expresses the relationships with one matrix. The common understanding helps to facilitate design changes without unnecessary additional iterative work.

#### 2.3.3 Architecture definition in thermal design view

In this subsection, the developed architecture candidates are assessed and defined in thermal design view. For this assessment, the author uses the thermal simulation based on the system model and MDM including TCM. Throughout the definition process, the features, properties, and characteristics satisfying the problem are assigned to the architecture so it can be implemented using available technology (INCOSE 2015). Therefore, the practical architecture candidates for the final design should be designated using the definition process.

In the thermal design of a portable electronic product such as a digital camera, both the component and surface temperatures are not allowed to exceed the values set as criteria for product thermal quality. The structural layout of the portable electronic product shown in Figure 2.9 is discussed in the thermal design view. Components such as semiconductor processors have a stipulated temperature range during operation. Operating those electrical parts at a temperature that exceeds this range may cause damage to the components or malfunctions. A product surface that forms the skin of an enclosure presents another kind of risk during utilization of a product. A surface temperature equal to or greater than 44 °C may cause low-temperature burn injuries when a user has prolonged contact with the product. Otherwise, the hot surface of the product may cause user discomfort. By using a thermal simulation based on the equations described in Figure 2.6, it is possible to assess if both the temperature target and design parameters of the architecture candidates are appropriate for satisfying the product thermal quality requirements.

To prevent thermal problems, the portable electronic product must be designed to suppress peak temperatures at those critical points. Figure 2.12 shows the component layout in a cross-sectional view. The structure of a portable electronic product has a temperature distribution. To reduce the peak temperatures, heat generated within the

product should be spread through one or both mechanical structures and electrical parts. An enclosure surface with a uniform temperature is thermodynamically optimal. Reducing power usage is also an important principle of the thermal design because some of the power consumed by electric parts is dissipated as heat. In addition, electrical parts that generate large amounts of heat are best mounted with space between the components to distribute the heat on a PWB. Implementation of heat conduction away from the electrical parts is also a principle in the thermal design of electronic products.

In this subsection, MDM is used to assess the architecture candidates in the thermal view. The purpose is to ensure both user safety (limited enclosure temperature) and camera function (limited internal module temperature). As shown in Figure 2.13, the three architecture candidates, S1, S2, and S3, are to be investigated. The structure and thermal behavior of S1 has already been described in the MDM shown in Figure 2.10. The difference between the candidates is that in S1 a DSP performs the data processing function, while S2 and S3 have an application processor.



Figure 2.12 Example of the temperature distribution in a digital camera



Figure 2.13 Examples of architecture candidates

The structure and thermal behavior of S2 are described in the MDM shown in Figure 2.14. The difference in the allocation to DSP is seen from the empty cells in the DSP column and the filled cells in the application processor column. The allocation of the data processing function and related thermal behavior is changed from DSP in S1 to the application processor in S2 and S3. Figure 2.15 shows the TCM of S2. Because of the change in allocation, the application processor temperature increased for S2 because the power consumption of an application processor is higher than that of DSP in S1. The heat generated in the application processor is transferred to both PWB and the cavity. Because the thermal conductivity of air in the cavity limits the amount of heat conducted away, more amount of heat is transferred to PWB than to the cavity. Heat

from the other electrical parts is also transferred to PWB. This concentration of heat hinders to spread heat and reduce peak temperature value around the heat sources. To compensate for the temperature rise caused by the increased heat generation in S2, a thermally conductive sheet is installed between the application processor and the frame in S3. Figure 2.16 shows the thermal coupling conditions of S3. The new heat transfer path between the application processor and the frame is expressed instead of the path between the application processor and the cavity. Through the new heat transfer path, more amount of heat from application processor to the frame is transferred and spread in the frame than to the cavity in S2.

The MDM descriptions of the architecture candidates enable comparison of ITVs between the candidates in the thermal design view. Table 2.1 s shows an example of the ITVs in the different structure candidates. Each candidate has different ITVs. Different electrical parts, DSP, or the application processor is assigned between S1 and other two candidates. The semiconductor processor is fully activated at each frequency. The heat path from the electrical parts to the mechanical ones and the temperature of the enclosure are also different. The surface temperature of S3 is less than that of the other architectures, and the surface temperature of S1 is also less than that of S2. Therefore, the allocations of functions and thermal coupling affect product temperatures. Considering such variations in allocations helps to generate alternative solutions to satisfy the product thermal quality requirements. In addition to experience in product development, exploration of effective and practical allocation using MDM can help to generate alternatives.

To define architecture candidates, other requirements, including the concerns shown in Figure 2.13, must be considered. In addition to a parts cost for each sample, the S1 candidate requires the surface mount area on PWB and labor costs for wiring the pattern and verification. A longer lead-time and difficulty of design changes for mounting components on PWB are also concerns for this candidate. However, although both component and surface temperatures are higher in S2, the concerns associated with this candidate are fewer than for the others. Concerns also include costs for software implementation and verification and shorter battery life due to increased power consumption. The S3 candidate has a temperature that is lower than that of the others; however, in addition to the same concerns that apply to S2, there are concerns about the cost and weight of a thermally conductive sheet that are unique to S3. The production process for installing the sheet between the application processor and the frame is more

flexible in comparison to other candidates in point of design change. In this way, various candidates for the architecture can be compared, and the most affordable candidate can be defined while considering system requirements, including the thermal quality requirements.

								Structure (S2)																	
			F	ur	nct	ior	า	Be	eha	avi	or	So wa	oft are		I	Elec	tric	al P	arts	3		M St	ech: truc	anio ture	al s
			Power supply	Focus light	Image Sensing	Data Proecssing	Transfer Data	Execute Tasks	States of Components	Generate Heat	Transfer Heat	SO	Application	Application processor	Image senor	DSP	Memory	Power supply unit	Peripherals	Battery	PWB	Frames	Lens Unit	Cavity	Enclosure
	_	Power supply						Х	Х	Х		Х						Х		Х	Х				
	lo	Focus light	Х		Х			Х	Х				Х	Х	Х								Х		
		Image Sensing	Х	Х				Х	Х	Х			Х	Х	Х					С	ha	and	nges		
	Ъ	Data Proecssing	Х		Х		Х	Х	Х	Х			Х	Х		/				in		ΓV	s		
		Transfer Data	Х			Х		Х	Х			Х	$\angle$	x			Х		<	(9	Å	5	S	2)	
	o	Execute Tasks							Х			1	Х							10	37	Ĺ	0	-) 3)	
	avi	States of Components						Х		$\ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ $			$ \bot $	Χ	Х	1	X	Х	Х	(	2	_		5)	
	eh	Generate Heat						$\angle$	X			X	∕χ	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х						
1		Transfer Heat								Х		/	Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х
	oftwa re	OS	Δ.	. 4 .	/	1 -	•			-/			Х	Х	Х		Х	Х	Х					$\square$	
	So	Application	A	Cti	va	te	AI		/	/		Х													
		Application processor	(S	51-	>8	52	)		/			Х									Х	1		X	
	(0	Image senor					L,	$\angle$				Х									Х	Х	Х	X	
5)	Part	DSP																							
<u>(</u> )	cal F	Memory				/						Х									Х			X	
ure	ectri	Power supply unit	R	en	າດ	ve	Ð	SI	>			Х									Х			X	
lot	ŭ	Peripherals	(S	1-	>.	32	<u>۱</u>	-		_		Х									Х			X	
ŝtr		Battery	,0		- (	52	/		_	<u> </u>	/	/									Х	Х		X	Х
0)		PWB												X	*	/	Х	Х	Х	Х		Х		Х	
	es el	Frames											$\square$		Х					Х	Х		Х	Х	Х
	hani ctur	Lens Unit		A	١d	d s	sh	ee	t c	o∨€	er				Х							Х			
	Meci	Cavity		A	١P	(5	52	->	S	3)				Х	Х		Х	Х	Х	Х	Х	Х			Х
	-	Enclosure																		Х		Х		Х	
																Х	: F	xis	ten	ice	of	a r	ela	tio	n

Figure 2.14 Relationships between system elements described in the MDM (S2)

				Structure2 (Hardware S2)														
					Ele	ctric	al Pa	arts			N	1ech Struc	anic: ture:	al s				
			Application processor	Image senor	dSD	Memory	Power supply unit	Peripherals	Battery	BMd	Frames	Lens Unit	Cavity	Enclosure				
		Application processor	90							-0.7			-0.4					
		Image senor		68.8						-0.1	-0.2	-0.1	0.1					
	arts	DSP																
S2)	al Pa	Memory				69.2				-0.1			-0.1					
vare	ectric	Power supply unit					68.5			-0.3			-0.1					
lardv	ă	Peripherals						60.9		-0.4			-0.1					
re (H		Battery							42	0.2	0.2		-0.2	-0.2				
uctu		PWB	-0.7	0.1		0.1	0.3	0.4	-0.2	56	-1.1		-0.3					
Str	<b>—</b> "	Frames		0.2					-0.2	1.1	54	0.1	-0.3	-1.4				
	anică	Lens Unit	0.4	0.1							-0.1	34						
	Mech Struc	Cavity		-0.1		0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.3		53	-0.9				
		Enclosure							0.2		1.4		0.9	45				

Figure 2.15 Thermal coupling matrix (S2)



Figure 2.16 Thermal coupling matrix (S3)

	Key electrical part / State	Heat transfer from the	Surface
	(operating frequency)	key electrical part	temperature
S1	DSP / 0.3GHz	0.2 W to cavity	44 °C
S2	AP / 1.0 GHz	0.4 W to cavity	45 °C
S3	AP / 1.0GHz	0.6 W to frame	43 °C

 Table 2.1
 Comparison of ITVs of principal parts for the architecture

#### 2.3.4 Proposed thermal design process

This subsection describes the proposed thermal design process indicated in the DSM shown in Figure 2.17. During or following the system requirements definition, the system model is developed to determine the required characteristics of the architecture candidates. A system analysis is performed in thermal design view to define the architecture. During the architecture design, the target values of the boundary conditions are defined as ITVs with consideration of the interactions between module design groups. Iteration of these design processes at the concept stage is expected.

After the system architecture is defined with consideration of the system requirements, including the thermal quality requirements, the design of modules progresses based on ITVs. By referring to the design parameters in assessing the architecture candidates, each module design can be detailed to satisfy ITVs. Because the values of ITVs are defined to satisfy product quality requirements using simulation, satisfying ITVs during the module design process assures satisfaction of the product thermal quality requirements. Because the design margins are limited in the thermal design of a portable electronic product and the information contains uncertainty at the concept stage, especially at the early stage of module design. In case an inconsistency is found during the detailed module design, another combination of ITVs is investigated, developed, and updated to satisfy the product thermal quality requirements. To compensate for a lack of communication between the groups independently designing the modules, ITVs are iteratively updated during product development.

This management work of updating ITVs contributes to prevent fatal iterative work that may occur at the time of integration in the late stage of development as described in Figure 1.7. If the product design target is inconsistent in satisfying the product quality requirements, early exploration and system analysis promotes appropriate assistance for efficient development work. Comparison of the alternatives becomes comprehensible for the concerned parties, especially for the module design groups who use MDM to describe interactions between the system elements. Although the module designs are carried out by people from different technological disciplines, monitoring the design progress with ITVs helps to indicate how the module design changes in the thermal design view. Even though software and hardware designs are often performed separately, this dissertation aims to include software design parameters to control the states of electrical parts such as the semiconductor processor. The description of the heat generation behavior using ITVs helps to increase not only the accuracy of the system analysis but also to facilitate managing thermal design parameters in case of design changes.

While product development progresses, the architecture is decomposed. Then the detailed design information is defined for implementation. In accordance with the system analysis planning, the system model can be updated to improve the accuracy of the architecture candidate assessment.



O: Planned Process, X: Undesirable Iteration

Figure 2.17 Proposed thermal design process for a portable electronic product using ITVs

## 2.4 Summary

This chapter described the design of the architecture of a portable electronic product in thermal design view. The product consists of modules including software, electrical parts, and mechanical structures within a distributed design environment. To satisfy the thermal quality requirements and prevent fatal iterative work, the system model that describes the behavior of heat generation and transfer was developed consistent with the states of electrical parts to perform the appropriate functions in a particular use case. Equations of behavior for heat generation and transfer were described in the system model in the thermal design view. Using the equations, the temperature rise of the components can be calculated using the design parameters.

The target values (ITVs) for the boundary conditions of the module designs were defined to prevent fatal iterative work during the development. ITVs include the states of electrical parts that are controlled by software, heat transfer from electrical parts to

mechanical structures, and the surface temperature of the product. When ITVs are designated for each module design to satisfy product quality requirements, development of the portable electronic product can proceed with cooperation between the module design groups.

In addition, visualizing the relationships between the system elements in thermal design view using MDM was proposed to promote a common understanding between module design groups. MDM comprises the function, behavior, and structure in DSMs. A portion of the structure DSM is designated as the thermal coupling matrix (TCM) to quantitatively visualize the thermal coupling condition. The descriptions of the architecture candidates using MDM and their comparison using ITVs were demonstrated. The author also described the proposed thermal design process expressed in DSM. Throughout the product development process, it is expected that ITVs will be updated to adapt to design changes. This management work of updating ITVs contributes to prevent fatal iterative work at the time of integration. This prevents design changes from occurring at a late stage of development.

# Chapter 3

# Thermal Design Specification of a Portable Electronic Product

# 3.1 Introduction

This chapter describes thermal design specification of a portable electronic product. The thermal system is decomposed to describe thermal behaviors of a smartphone. Based on equations of heat generation and heat transfer, thermal simulation is performed to evaluate the thermal quality of the product. Refereeing to a thermal simulation with the conditions under which low-temperature burn injuries occur, this chapter estimates the product thermal quality. Using design parameters, ITVs are calculated as boundary conditions among module designs to satisfy the thermal quality.

The author applies the proposed approach to thermal design specification. First application is parameter exploration for product development. The relationship between two conflicting user requirements, small size and long usage time is quantified to derive thermal design specification of the product. The next application is updating ITVs to prevent degradation of thermal quality due to design changes. The countermeasure alternatives are developed by recalculation of ITVs.

Thermal design using system modeling is also applied to estimate the thermal quality during the support stage. Thermal simulation reflecting expected the states of the electrical parts is performed to prepare countermeasures against further temperature rise caused by software changes.

# 3.2 Thermal quality of portable electronic products

This research investigates the temperature rise of a simple electronic product. The mechanism for the temperature rise is illustrated in Figure 3.1 In a typical portable product, electrical parts such as semiconductors are affixed to a printed-writing board (PWB), itself fixed to a mechanical structure. As indicated in the figure, the product

temperature rises under several activities: activation of semiconductors during the product's operation (a1), dissipation of heat generated in the semiconductor (a2) and transmission of the generated heat to the surface (a3). The software executes in the semiconductor during a product's operation, and the load is processed at a specific frequency. The consumed power is dissipated as heat, implying that heat is generated by operations within the semiconductor.

Temperature increases in electronic products cause various problems such as parts' failure, system defects and burn injuries to the user. Moritz and Henriques (1947) investigated low-temperature burn injuries on human and pig skin. They established the minimum temperature (44 °C) that caused burns over a six-hour contact period. Suzuki and Hirayama et al. (1991) used rats in their investigation, and a temperature of 41 °C is considered to cause burn injuries after touching for five hours. In an effort to prevent such injuries, Roy (2012) referenced the maximum temperatures stipulated in various product standards and suggested the maximum allowable surface temperature for electronic products. Contact temperatures sufficient to cause burn injuries are plotted as a function of time in Figure 3.2

Under constant power consumption, the temperature of an electronic product increases as shown in Figure 3.3 and eventually reaches a steady state. Over a short usage period, the temperature rise will probably not cause low-temperature burn injuries. However, at temperatures as low as 44 °C, users may not regard the product as uncomfortably hot and may unconsciously continue to operate or hold the heated product. Small electronic products such as portable handheld or pocket-carried products can cause low-temperature burn injuries after long-term exposure and under certain operating conditions. In the following thermal design case, the maximum temperature limit depends on the required usage time. The application assumes prolonged usage of an electronic product, such as a video game or movie player, maintaining the surface temperature below 44 °C. The temperature rise time is considerably shorter than the required usage time and is hence ignored.



Figure 3.1 Mechanism of temperature rise in an electronic product



Figure 3.2 Temperature causing low-temperature burn injuries as a function of contact time (Moritz and Henriques, 1947)



Figure 3.3 Typical temperature rise curve

## 3.3 Development of the system model for smartphone

## thermal design

This section describes behaviors of heat generation and transfer for smartphone thermal design. The thermal system is decomposed to express the behaviors of a portable electronic product that has a simple structure. Then the simulation model is developed based on the equations in the system model to estimate the temperature rise. The equations include the design parameters of the module design and ITVs, which constitute boundary conditions between the modules. Figure 3.4 illustrates the activities of the thermal system of the product shown in Figure 2.5. First, tasks are allocated in a product running a certain application. The tasks are scheduled in the OS and executed to process the load-assigning frequency (a1-1), manage the supply power, including charging (a1-2) and configure the peripherals' states during operation (a1-3). The task execution generates heat in the processor (a2-1), power management ICs (a2-2) and peripheral devices, including the driver ICs of peripherals (a2-3). In a typical portable product, the semiconductors are affixed to a PWB as shown in Figure 3.1. Because the PWB contains thermally conductive materials such as copper, the generated heat is assumed to transfer first to the PWB (a3-1) and then through the mechanical structures to the product surface, where it is dissipated into air.



Figure 3.4 Activity diagram of temperature rise in an electronic product

To suppress temperature rise on the product surface, reduction of the processing power must be discussed. Various approaches such as dynamic thermal management (Brooks, 2001) have been proposed for this purpose. The aim is to limit the temperature increase without compromising the product performance. The temperature of a processor can be monitored by an internal thermal sensor. When the temperature exceeds some trigger level, the frequency and/or voltage is scaled down to reduce the processing power. The heat dissipated in a processor is proportional to its power consumption, as described below.

$$Q_p = C_l \cdot F \cdot V^2 \tag{3.1}$$

In Eq. (3.1),  $C_l$  is the physical semiconductor capacitance, and the voltage V and frequency F are simplified and based on the switching power dissipation behavior of the CMOS (Chandrakasan et al., 1992). In addition, a processor is assumed to be fully activated at the specified frequency. However the dynamic thermal management can suppress rapid temperature rise, a processor is being fully activated at the constant load during prolonged applications. For such applications, it is insufficient to suppress temperature rise on the product surface. In the present study, behaviors of electrical parts including a processor are modelled. Considering constraints of heat generation of the thermal system are balanced to satisfy the product thermal quality. The (simplified) total heat dissipation Q of the product is given by

$$Q = Q_p + Q_{chg} + Q_{per} \tag{3.2}$$

where  $Q_{chg}$  is the heat dissipation induced by the voltage conversion loss when a product is operated during battery charging and  $Q_{per}$  is the power consumption of peripheral components such as the driver ICs of the display. Because heat is transferred to the PWB, we consider that all heat generated in the product is distributed over the PWB with equal density.

The surface temperature is calculated by a similar heat transmission equation. Figure 3.5 shows the dimensions of the electronic product modelled in the present study. The outer dimensions are the length l, width w and thickness t. The structural parts are simplified as two blocks located at the top and bottom, with thicknesses  $t_1$  and  $t_2$ , respectively.

Because the generated heat is dispatched from the product surface to air, the temperature rise strongly depends on the surface area.

Figure 3.6 illustrates the heat transmission in a cross-sectional view of the product. The heat generated at the boundary between the top and bottom parts is dispatched to the ambient air through the top and bottom surfaces. This heat transmission can be described by thermal network analysis. Thermal resistance, defined as the ratio of the temperature difference at an object's interface to the heat transfer through the object, is here defined in two ways. First, the resistance between the product surface and ambient air is described as

$$R_{s} = 1 / (h \cdot A_{s})$$

$$(3.3)$$

This equation involves the heat transfer coefficient *h* and the surface area  $A_{s_i}$ . *h* is regarded as constant, and the surface area  $A_{s_i}$  is that specified in Figure 3.5. The subscript *i* of the variables mean the positions. If *i* equals 1, the variables are belongs to the top part of the object. If *i* equals 2, the variables are belongs to the bottom part of the object.  $A_{s_i}$  is surface area of the top part for example. The thermal resistance within the product is given by

$$R_{in\ i} = 1 / (\lambda_i \cdot l \cdot w / t_i) \tag{3.4}$$

which depends on the above-stated parameters and a material property called thermal conductivity ( $\lambda_i$ ). In this study, the conductivity of the simplified structure is estimated by its equivalent value. The conditions of heat transfer are considered as horizontally uniform.

Because the generated heat is dispatched from both sides of both surfaces, the calculation includes four thermal resistances:  $R_{s_1}$ ,  $R_{in_1}$ ,  $R_{in_2}$  and  $R_{s_2}$ . The surface temperatures are estimated as

$$T_{s\ i} = Q_i \cdot R_{s\ i} + T_{amb} \tag{3.5}$$

where the heat transfer  $Q_i$  is the generated power to be dispatched from one side of the surface and  $T_{amb}$  is the ambient temperature.
Surface Area:  $A_s = A_{s_1} + A_{s_2}$ 



Figure 3.5 Dimensions of a simplified electronic product



Figure 3.6 Heat transmission through the cross-section of a simplified electronic product

The block diagram of Figure 3.7 describes the actives and constraint relations in the thermal system of the electronic product model. Shown are the activities of the thermal system and their relations with the thermal constraints. As a design constraint, the software that controls electrical parts should optimally operate at the specified processing frequency, power management states (including charging) and peripherals. Using the above equations, the author constraints the heat generation and transmission in the system. To ensure high thermal quality of the product, the activities are moderated by the constraints.

In SysML, whether the constraints are satisfied is decided from a parametric diagram. The calculation of the surface temperatures  $T_{s_1}$  and  $T_{s_2}$  from the design parameters is shown in Figure 3.8. The design parameters are assigned to their values in the module design. The product operating conditions (including processing frequency and states of battery charging), design parameters related to heat generation and parameters related to heat transmission are assigned by the software, electrical and mechanical designs, respectively.

Using thermal simulation, design parameters to satisfy system requirements including the product thermal quality are being explored. After the appropriate design parameters are defined, the boundary conditions among modules are determined as ITVs. ITVs consist of the states of the electrical parts, heat and temperature. Because the physical structure is simple, sum of transferred heat is regarded as ITVs for the smartphone thermal design in this chapter. Each module with its design parameters is designed to satisfy a target ITVs. The ITVs are updated until the constraints, and thereby the target thermal quality, are satisfied. To estimate the impact of design change, the effect of each module design is evaluated in thermal simulations. The parameter range satisfying the thermal quality can be investigated by changing the internal design parameters of each module and recalculating the ITVs.

Figure 3.9 illustrates relationships between function, thermal behaviors and structures of the portable electronic product using a MDM. Using the matrix, system elements that affect the temperature rise are described. This visualization promotes comprehension of interactions of the system elements among concerned parties including module design groups. The MDM is to be applied for comparison between countermeasure alternatives as described later.



Figure 3.7 Activity and constraint relations of heat generation and transfer



Figure 3.8 Parametric diagram of temperature constraint

																Stru	cture	)				
			Function						Beha	avior	•	So wa	oft are		Elect	trical I	Parts		Me St	echani ructur	cal es	
			Power Supply	Charging	Sensing	Data processing	Display	Execute Tasks	States of Components	Generate Heat	Transfer Heat	SO	Application	Processor	Power supply unit	Peripherals	Battery	PWB	Frames	Cavity	Enclosure	
		Power Supply		х				х	х	х		х			х		х	х				
	Б	Charging	х			х		х	х	х		х			х		х					
	Incti	Sensing	х	х		х	х	х	х	х			х	х		х						
	щ	Data processing	х		х		х	х	х	х			х	х								
		Display	х		х	х		х	х	х			х			х						
	-	Execute Tasks							х			х										
	avior	States of Components						х				х		х	х	х						
	Beh	Generate Heat							х					х	х	х						
		Transfer Heat								х				х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	
	ware	os											х	х	х	х						
	Soft	Application										х										
		Processor										х						х		х		
Ø	Parts	Power supply unit										х						х		х		
cture	trical	Peripherals										х						х		х		
Stru	Electrica	Battery																х		х	х	
		PWB												х	х	х	х		х	х		
	res	Frames																х		х	х	
	schan ructui	Cavity												х	х	х	х	х	х		х	
	Str	Enclosure															Х		х	Х		

X: Existence of a relation



## 3.4 Application to thermal design in the development stage

## 3.4.1 Thermal design parameter exploration to resolve conflicting user requirements

The thermal simulation model based the system model is applied to explore the design parameters that resolve conflicting user requirements of a portable electronics product. This subsection describes improvement of the design parameters in case that the initial conditions do not resolve the conflicting user requirements. The author discusses the benefits of this approach in a product development context.

In the application, a small-size electronic product is designed to satisfy the user requirements. The initial design parameters, from which the surface temperatures are calculated, are listed in Table 3.1. The top part consists of various devices such as display and speaker, as well as an air gap for assembly tolerance. The bottom part consists of hardware such as PWB, semiconductors and battery. These electrical parts contain materials of high thermal conductivity, such as copper and carbon. The thermal conductivity of each part is assigned an equivalent composite conductivity of the various materials.

Then the simulation based on the system model is performed using the parametric model in Figure 3.8. The user requirements are small size and long usage time. The first requirement stipulates that the thickness t is less than 15 mm to ensure portability, while the usage time (is more than 3 hours) is sufficient to watch a streamed movie. As shown in Figure 3.10, the surface temperatures are calculated assuming the initial design parameters in Table 3.1 and varying thickness of the bottom part,  $t_2$ . The allowable usage time is approximated from the temperature curve of Figure 3.2.

As shown in Figure 3.10, the allowable usage time for a 15-mm-thick product is less than 180 min, implying that the requirements are not satisfied. Because the temperature of the bottom surface exceeds that of the top surface, the allowable usage time is based on the bottom surface temperature.

Software	F	1000 MHz
Electrical Parts	$C_l$	0.4 µF
	V	2 V
	$Q_{per}$	1.2 W
Mechanical Structures	1	100 mm
	w	50 mm
	$t_1$	7 mm
	h	$11 \text{ W/(°C·m}^2)$
	$\lambda_I$	0.1 W/(°C·m)
	$\lambda_2$	2 W/(°C·m)
Environment	T <sub>amb</sub>	25 °C

 Table 3.1
 Initial design parameters



Figure 3.10 Simulation result assuming initial parameters listed in Table 3.1

To satisfy the user requirements, the author proposes countermeasure alternatives for extending usage time without incrementing the thickness. Two countermeasure alternatives are shown in Table 3.2. First, the power Q in the ITVs is reduced by alternative semiconductor and circuit design that operates at lower voltage. Relationship between power Q and allowable usage time is shown in Figure 3.11. As the power Q decreases, the surface temperature on the bottom surface  $T_{s_2}$  goes down and the allowable usage time increases. In case that thickness of that product t is 15 mm and

other design parameter is same as the initial parameter in Table 3.1, power Q must be lower than 2.6 W to satisfy the 180 min usage time. If the voltage of semiconductor voltage can be reduced from 2.0 to 1.8 V, the power Q in the ITVs decreases to 2.5 W. Correspondingly, the surface temperature  $T_{s_2}$  decreases to accommodate the allowable usage time. The results of the calculation are shown in Figure 3.12.

The second alternative is to reduce the surface temperature  $T_{s_2}$  in the ITVs by changing the mechanical structures, for example, by filling the air gap in the top part by a soft thermal interface material (TIM). Relationship between the thermal conductivity of the top part  $\lambda_1$  and allowable usage time is shown in Figure 3.13. As the thermal conductivity $\lambda_1$  increases, more amount of heat is dispatched from the top surface. Then, the surface temperature on the bottom surface  $T_{s_2}$  goes down and the allowable usage time increases. In case that thickness of that product is 15 mm and other design parameter is same as the initial parameter in Table 3.1, the thermal conductivity  $\lambda_1$  must be more than 0.17 W/(°C·m) to satisfy the 180min usage time. If the thermal conductivity of the top part  $\lambda_1$  is increased from 0.1 to 0.25 W/(°C·m), similar to the conductivity of a resin, and the surface temperature of the bottom  $T_{s_2}$  reduces to accommodate the allowable usage time. As shown in Figure 3.14, this alternative also extends the allowable usage time without increasing product thickness.

The coupled calculations do not require complicated models. In this module-based approach, changes to the design of a proposed product can be readily discussed among concerned parties using alternatives generated by changes within each module. Because the architecture candidates that are traceable to the system model are defined, the most appropriate candidate can be selected. The benefit of coupling is to quantify the conflicting requirements. If the alternatives are disadvantageous; for example, if they incur a cost increase, the most practical solution can be identified through discussion with personnel involved in product engineering, design, planning and purchasing. Once the design change has been planned and the ITVs defined, the modified design is executed within each module. Because they require different engineering skills and knowledge, module are typically designed by different team within an organization. However, if each module is designed to meet specified ITVs, collaborative product development becomes possible. Resolving conflict in the early stage of development reduces the required number of redesign of the thermal management specifications.

		Initial	Counter	measure
		Initial	Alternative 1	Alternative 2
The module	to change	-	Electrical Parts	Mechanical
design				Structures
Changed design		-	<i>V</i> : 2.0-1.8 V	$\lambda_1: 0.1 - 0.25$
parameter				W/(°C·m)
Simulation	ITV F	1000	1000 MHz	1000 MHz
result		MHz		
(t=15mm)	Q	2.8 W	2.5 W	2.8 W
	T <sub>s_1,</sub>	37.9,	36.5,	40.5,
	$T_{s_2}$	47.1 °C	44.6 °C	44.5 °C
	Allowable	57 min	307 min	332 min
	usage			
	time			

 Table 3.2
 Countermeasure alternative for the parameter exploration



Figure 3.11 Relationship between power and allowable playing time (Thickness: t = 15mm)



Figure 3.12 Simulation result of alternative 1 (reducing power consumption in the ITVs)



Figure 3.13 Relationship between thermal conductivity of top part and allowable playing time (Thickness: t = 15 mm)



Figure 3.14 Simulation result of alternative 2 (reducing temperature at the bottom surface)

# **3.4.2 Update ITVs to prevent degradation of thermal quality due to design changes**

Applying the thermal simulation model based on the system model, the specification of electronic products can be derived to satisfy constraints in order to prevent burn injuries for two applications. After calculation of initial design parameters, the simulation based on the system model is again used to propose countermeasure alternatives for improvement. In this subsection, the author discusses the benefits of this approach in the case when the design change involves addition of an application.

A small-size electronic product is designed with constraint to prevent burn injuries. Two semiconductor processors are installed on it as electronics parts.  $Q_{p_1}$  and  $Q_{p_2}$  are the powers of the semiconductors, and the power of the system is the sum of  $Q_{p_1}$  and  $Q_{p_2}$ , as described as Eq. (3.6).

$$Q_p = Q_{p_1} + Q_{p_2} \tag{3.6}$$

In Eq. (3.6) that describes the power dissipation of the CMOS,  $Q_{p_1}$  and  $Q_{p_2}$  are described using Eq. (3.7) and (3.8).

$$Q_{p_{-1}} = C_{l_{-1}} \cdot F_1 \cdot V_1^2 \tag{3.7}$$

$$Q_{p_2} = C_{l_2} \cdot F_2 \cdot V_2^2 \tag{3.8}$$

Table 3.3 shows the initial design parameters, which are the design parameters and ambient temperature, for instance. Each semiconductor processor has a different role, such as CPU or GPU. Heat transfer coefficient has equal value of all sides of product surface in natural convection. ITVs that are frequency F, power Q and temperature rise dT are calculated in following subsection.

In this subsection, two applications, A and B, are assumed such as video games and video encoding. The frequency F of ITVs is determined for two semiconductor processors. Then, the remainder of ITVs is subsequently calculated as shown in the parametric model in Figure 3.8. The first calculation of ITVs is shown in Table 3.4. To eliminate the possibility of burn injuries, the surface temperature T must be below 44 °C in this application. Though number of design changes for improvement should be limited. Iterative work is preferred as small as possible after the product development is started. As shown in the table, the surface temperature T of application A is 43.1 °C which is lower than the temperature target. However, application B has different ITVs for frequency, and the surface temperature T of application. Figure 3.15 shows the variation of temperature required to cause burns, as shown in Figure 3.2, and the calculated surface temperatures of two applications are indicated. As shown in the figure, there is a risk of burn if a user operates application B while touching the product for more than 180 min.

Then, the author proposes countermeasure alternatives the temperature of application B by recalculating ITVs. Three alternatives are shown in Table 3.5. First, the software is designed for execution at lower frequency, which provides less processing power (Venkatachalam and Franz, 2005). If the frequency of semiconductor1  $F_1$  is reduced from 700 to 550 MHz, the surface temperature *T* decreases to 42.5 °C, which is within the target. Second, the power *Q* in ITVs is reduced by changing semiconductor and circuit design in order to adapt for operating at lower voltage. If the voltage of

semiconductor2,  $V_2$ , can be reduced from 3.6 to 2.7 V, the power Q in ITVs decreases to 1.12 W. Then, the surface temperature T also decreases to 43.0 °C, which is within the target. The third alternative is that the temperature rise dT in ITVs is reduced by changing the mechanical structures, thereby expanding the product size. If the thickness of the dimensions of the enclosure is extended from 10 to 14 mm, the surface area  $A_s$  increases. Then, the surface temperature T also decreases to 43.2 °C, which is within the target.

Those coupling calculations do not require complicated models. With the system design approach among modules, design changes can be discussed using the proposed alternatives that have changes in each module. After countermeasure alternatives are generated by adjusting design parameters of the modules, the most practical solution can be identified. Because values of ITVs are determined to satisfy product quality, satisfaction of ITVs in module designs assures the product thermal quality after the design changes.

Semiconductor 1	$C_1$	0.1 μF
	$V_{l}$	3.6 V
Semiconductor 2	$C_2$	0.065 μF
	$V_2$	3.6 V
Mechanical	$A_s$	35×50×10 mm
Enclosure	h	$12 \text{ W/(°C} \cdot \text{m}^2)$
Environment	T <sub>amb</sub>	25 °C

 Table 3.3
 Initial design parameters before the design change

Application	Α	В
ITV $F_1$	820 MHz	700 MHz
$F_2$	80MHz	450 MHz
Q	1.13 W	1.29 W
dT	18.1 °C	20.6 °C
Surface temperature <i>T</i>	43.1 °C	45.6 °C
Possibility to be burned	No	Yes (over 180 min usage)

Table 3.4 Calculation results of application A and B



Figure 3.15 Thermal risk of applications A and B

	Initial		Countermeasures	
	(Application	Alternative	Alternative	Alternative
	B)	1	2	3
The module	-	Software	Electrical Parts	Mechanical
to change				Structures
design				
Changed	-	<i>F</i> <sub>1</sub> : 700 -> 550	$V_2: 3.6 \rightarrow 2.7 \text{ V}$	$A_s$
design		MHz		(Thickness):
parameter				10mm ->
				14mm
ITV $F_1$	700 MHz	550 MHz	700 MHz	700 MHz
$F_2$	450 MHz	450 MHz	450 MHz	450 MHz
Q	1.29 W	1.09 W	1.12 W	1.29 W
dT	20.6 °C	17.5 °C	18.0 °C	18.2 °C
Surface	45.6 °C	42.5 °C	43.0 °C	43.2 °C
temperature T				
Possibility to	Yes (over	No	No	No
be burned	180 min			
	usage)			

Table 3.5Countermeasure alternatives to improve the surface temperature of<br/>application B

## 3.5 Application to thermal design in the support stage

### 3.5.1 Thermal management in a maintenance process

Besides the development stage, thermal design must be considered in the support stage of an electronic product's lifecycle. Once the hardware development is complete, the product will be repeatedly exposed to software changes such as updates or the installation of new applications. Post-purchase installation of software, including applications and new OSs, now constitutes the bulk of product variation (Kuusela, 2012). As shown in Figure 1.9, official version of Android OS is released about several times a year. In addition, the number of available Android applications has already reached one million in 2013 (Google, 2013). At the time of product maintenance during the support stage, additional hardware implementations are not available and the number of hardware engineers is usually limited. However, if a software algorithm varies the load on electrical parts such as a processor, the software updates incur thermal risk to the electronic products.

Once the product design specifications have been derived through architecture design, the system outline is checked in detail, decomposing its elements into physical specifications. In general, the software, electrical parts and mechanical structures are developed by different engineering groups. As shown in Figure 3.16, the modules are developed in parallel. However, to ensure that the system functions satisfy the requirements, verification is required. Thermal verification is often performed through thermal simulations and temperature measurements, particularly during module development. Before mass production, the designed modules are integrated into physical prototypes, and their quality is assured by temperature measurements. In case that thermal problem is found at verification in the late stage of the development, iterative work will be fatal to maintain the development schedule. Modules that fail these tests should be improved as soon as possible. Considering that the progress levels of modules vary during their developments, verifications must be performed at the correct time.

Software also changes during the support stage, i.e. after the hardware development is completed. As cited above, most of the product variation now occurs post-distribution. Because many features of electronic products are flexibly implemented by software, product complexity is continually increasing (Siemens, 2012). Therefore, a product must be verified after any design change, including software changes. The thermal

simulation model in the present study verifies the product in both the development and support stage of the product lifecycle.

In contrast that the above-mentioned thermal design approaches were aimed to derive design specifications in the development stage, this subsection investigates the thermal safety of the product by efficient thermal management during the support stage. In the support stage, the author aims to evaluate thermal risk of software changes and prepare countermeasure alternatives even when no post-distribution hardware solution is available. Measures to prevent temperature rise are limited. In addition, verification resources are also limited after development in general. Corresponding to the difficulties of thermal design during the support stages, the author employs the thermal simulation model, coupling the activities within modules including the software.

The thermal design in this subsection uses system models developed during the development stage. The DSM in Figure 2.17 shows the postulated design process using the system model. To implement this process, the author introduced the design approach using ITVs. In the early stage of the development stage, the ITVs are calculated to satisfy these requirements. The assigned ITVs are then used in the module design.

To manage thermal quality in the support stage, the system model that developed in the development stage is applied reflecting expected thermal behaviors. Once the hardware development is complete, software changes such as OS upgrade continue in the support stage. Figure 3.17 illustrates the proposed maintenance process using the system model. The outline of the software change is determined in the maintenance planning, and the thermal risk is estimated from the calculated ITVs. The estimation is based on the system model that used in the development phase, or can be updated to more accurately simulate.



Figure 3.16 Thermal problem in the support stage of lifecycle



Figure 3.17 Thermal management process for a software changes in the support stage

The effect of the software change on the ITVs can be regarded as a change in processor frequency, which is equivalent to changing the load of the task execution. Other power-estimation techniques can also be used. The effects of software changes can also be investigated by bytecode profiling (Hao et al., 2012) and modeling of component behavior in various applications (Zhang et al., 2010). If the software prototype is available, the power consumption can be measured on the developed hardware.

Because temperature measurements consume preparation and data sampling time during the temperature rise, one analysis usually takes a few hours. Therefore, by adopting the system design approach to thermal risk filtering, considerable time and effort in the verification can be saved. As shown in Figure 3.18, the verification is first performed using thermal simulation to evaluate if the behavior of new software causes temperature rise that exceeds the target. If it is regarded as fail, temperature measurement or detail simulation can be performed to examine the degradation of thermal quality. If the temperature rise is still regarded as a risk, thermal mitigation or need of the software change must be investigated. Simulation based on the system model is based on simple and fast calculations and admit unlimited measurements (except in critical cases). After the hardware development, the number of hardware engineers or verification teams may be insufficient to meet the demand, risking insufficient verification in the support stage.



Figure 3.18 Verification workflow

## 3.5.2 Estimation of thermal quality in preparation for software changes

In the application, the author defines the specifications of electronic products that must not exceed the target temperature. To prevent burn injuries, the surface temperature should be below 44 °C (Moritz and Henriques, 1947). The initial design parameters for small-size electronic products are listed in Table 3.6. The thermal conductivities of the simplified structure are estimated by their equivalent values. The top part of the product comprises various components such as display and speaker and an air gap for assembly tolerance. The bottom part consists of the hardware (PWB, semiconductors and a battery). The calculated ITVs of certain applications such as video gaming and battery charging are also listed in Table 3.6. Under these conditions, the temperature is within the target (44 °C), and the module designs can begin to satisfy the ITVs.

Software	F	0.9 GHz
	St <sub>chg</sub>	On
	Stper	On
Electrical Parts	$C_l$	0.4 µF
	V	2 V
	P <sub>chg</sub>	0.4 W
	P <sub>per</sub>	0.9 W
Mechanical	$l, w, t_1, t_2$	120, 60, 5, 5 (mm)
Structures	$C_{ht}$	11 W/(°C·m <sup>2</sup> )
	$\lambda_{I,} \lambda_{2}$	0.1, 2 W/(°C·m)
Environment	T <sub>amb</sub>	25 °C
ITVs	F	0.9 GHz
	St <sub>chg</sub>	On
	Stper	On
	$Q_{p}$ , $Q_{chg}$ , $Q_{per}$	1.44, 0.4, 0.9 (W)
	$T_{s\_1}, T_{s\_2}$	34.6, 43.1 (°C)

 Table 3.6
 Initial design parameters and ITVs in the development stage

The thermal risk of a new software application is studied during maintenance planning. As shown in Table 3.7 the new application requires a higher processor frequency to execute more tasks; consequently, the *F* rises from 0.9 GHz to 1.2 GHz. Because extra power is consumed by the processor, the surface temperature exceeds 44 °C. Referring to the temperature curve in Figure 3.2, the raised temperature will burn the user after 98 min of contact. Because the allowable time is considered as insufficient for the usage, temperature rise must be suppressed.

To reduce the thermal risk in a new application of updated OS, two alternatives are prepared as countermeasures. Alternative 1 is a software improvement that reduces the processor frequency of the application by optimizing the task scheduling in the software. Alternative 2 is a disable function that can be deployed at the same time. The tasks to be considered are executing an application and charging a battery. By disabling the charging, the power consumption of the voltage conversion loss is reduced.

Effect of these two countermeasure alternatives can be investigated using MDM. Using a MDM, relationships between thermal behaviors and structure can be described about each alternative. Comparing the relationships promotes understanding how the changes affect the product quality. The MDM shown in Figure 3.9 described the relationships of the system elements defined in the development. Based on the MDM, effects of countermeasure alternative 1 that changes processor's operating frequency are described in Figure 3.19. Change of the processor states affect power consumption of the processor, and heat transfer from the processor to the PWB. The operation at the lower frequency reduces generated heat of the processor. Although the improvement by optimizing the task scheduling in the software is required, the reduction of heat suppresses temperature rise of the product. Another countermeasure alternative 2 is described in Figure 3.20. Change of power supply state affects heat generation of the power supply. The heat transfer from the power supply is also affected disabling charging. Because the paths of the heat transfer lead to the surface from the electrical parts on PWB, temperature rise on the product surface is suppressed.

Table 3.7 lists the ITVs proposed in each countermeasure. If the calculated temperature exceeds the target, the thermal risk is evaluated from the probability and duration of usage. When the general usage time of the new application exceeds 98 min, the temperature rise should be mitigated even when no post-distribution hardware solution is available. Otherwise, the application should be discontinued at the point of product safety. However, although both countermeasure alternatives reduce the product temperature, alternative 1 does not reduce the temperature within the target. Nonetheless, provided that the application is rarely used for longer than 204 min, this countermeasure will largely reduce the thermal risk. While alternative 1 requires a software improvement effort and incurs risk during prolonged usage, alternative 2 is inconvenient for users. In particular, it may drain the battery power, disabling all features of the product. In the simulation based on the system model, the author can propose to evaluate a number of alternatives and select the most practical solution at different points.

			Impr	oved				
		New App.	Alternative 1	Alternative 2				
Count	ermeasure	-	Execute at a lower	Disable charging				
			frequency					
ITV	F	1200 MHz	1100 MHz	1200 MHz				
	St <sub>chg</sub>	On	On	Off				
	Stper	On	On	On				
	Q	3.22 W	3.06 W	2.82 W				
	$T_{s\_l}, T_{s\_2}$	36.3, 46.3	35.7, 45.2	34.8, 43.6				
		(°C)	(°C)	(°C)				
Allow	able usage time	98 min	204 min	>480 min				

Table 3.7ITVs developed in the support stage

																Stru	cture	)				
				Fu	Incti	on			Beha	avio	•	So Wa	oft are		Elect	trical I	Parts		Me St	echani tructur	cal es	
			Power Supply	Charging	Sensing	Data processing	Display	Execute Tasks	States of Components	Generate Heat	Transfer Heat	SO	Application	Processor	Power supply unit	Peripherals	Battery	PWB	Frames	Cavity	Enclosure	
		Power Supply		х				х	Х	х		х			х		х	х				
	Б	Charging	х			х		х	х	х		х			х		х					
	incti	Sensing	х	x		х	х	х	х	х			х	х		х						
	ц	Data processing	х		х		х	х	х	х			х	х								
		Display	х		х	х		х	х	х			х			х						
	_	Execute Tasks							х			х										
	avio	States of Components						х				х		х	х	х						
	Beh	Generate Heat							х					х	х	х						
		Transfer Heat								х				х	х	х	х	х	х	х	х	
	ware	os		Гул									X	X	х	х						
	Soft	Application		frec	ecut	e at nov	аю	wer				X										
		Processor			1401	.0,						x						rх		x		
Ø	Parts	Power supply unit		Red	quire	e so	ftwa	are	/			х						X		х		
cture	trical	Peripherals		imp	rov	eme	ent					х		$\sim$				х		х		
Stru	Elect	Battery														ſ		х		х	х	
		PWB			Rec	luce	he	at						x	х	х	х		х	х		
	ical	Frames			gen	erat	ion	fron	n th	е								х		х	х	
	echan	Cavity			pro	cess	sor							x	х	х	х	х	х		х	
	St	Enclosure															х		х	х		
															Х	: Exi	sten	ce o	fare	elatio	on	

Figure 3.19 Relations of system elements of a smartphone described in case that

operating frequency is changed (countermeasure alternative 1)

														Stru	cture	)					
				Fu	Inctio	on			Beha	avior	•	So	oft		Elect	trical I	Parts		Me	chani	cal
											ware							31	Olluciales		
			Power Supply	Charging	Sensing	Data processing	Display	Processor state	Power supply state	Peripherals state	Power consumption	SO	Application	Processor	Power supply unit	Peripherals	Battery	PWB	Frames	Cavity	Enclosure
		Power Supply		х				х	х	х		х			х		х	х			
	uo	Charging	х			х		х	х	х		х			х		х				
	Incti	Sensing	х	х		х	х	х	х	х			х	х		х					
	Ţ	Data processing	х		х		х	х	х	х			х	х							
		Display	х		х	х		х	х	х			х			х					
	r	Execute Tasks							х			х									
	avio	States of Components						х				х		х	x	х					
	Beh	Generate Heat							х					X	/	х					
		Transfer Heat								х		$\langle$		X		х	х	х	х	х	х
	ware	os		Δ	ssin	nn th	10 S	tate	to				X	x	х	х					
	Soft	Application		, d	isat	ble c	har	ging	10	ĺ		X									
		Processor										x						х		х	
	Parts	Power supply unit		Ν	lo h	eat	by c	har	ging			х									
cture	rical	Peripherals								$\sim$		х						х		х	
Strue	Elect	Battery										/	/	,				х		х	х
		PWB										/		$\times$	<b>\</b>	х	х		х	х	
	res	Frames																х		х	х
	schar	Cavity												x		х	х	х	х		х
	ß	Enclosure															х		х	х	

X: Existence of a relation

Figure 3.20 Relations of system elements of a smartphone described in case that charging states is disabled (countermeasure alternative 2)

### 3.6 Summary

This chapter described thermal design specification of a portable electronic product. The thermal system was decomposed to describe the thermal behaviors. Based on equations of heat generation and heat transfer, thermal simulation was performed referring occurrence condition of low-temperature injuries.

The above proposed approach was applied to smartphone thermal design. First application was parameter exploration for thermal design specification. This study introduced a thermal design approach for designing electronics products while considering user requirements. Using the simulation based on the system model, ITVs were calculated as boundary conditions among module designs, where the modules comprise the software, electrical parts, and mechanical structures. The author quantified the relationship between two conflicting user requirements, small size and long usage time, by evaluating thermal burn injury risk.

Then the author applied the thermal simulation based on the system model to prevent degradation of thermal quality due to design changes in the development. The countermeasure alternatives were generated by recalculation of ITVs. Changing each module design, the most practical solution can be identified. The design changes can be discussed among concerned parties to weigh the design parameters against requirements. Once the balanced ITVs are assigned to each module design, module design is being performed to satisfy ITVs. The benefits include reduction in the number of redesign iterations required to complete product development.

The author also applied the thermal design approach using the system model to prepare software changes in the support stage. Thermal simulations reflecting expected the states of the electrical parts were performed to generate countermeasures alternatives against further temperature rise. In the application, the author also investigated a verification workflow. By estimating this risk in advance, the author can limit the number of measurements in the verification. The thermal design approach using the system model provides an efficient verification, particularly when software changes in the support stage induce numerous and diverse product variations.

## Chapter 4

## Application to a Production System Considering Variability of Component Characteristics

## 4.1 Introduction

In this chapter, the author proposes an application of the system model to the production of portable electronic products. The thermal design of electronic products has become increasingly complicated due to the leakage current characteristics of semiconductors and their variability. After thermal design specifications are developed corresponding to the demands for faster processing speeds and smaller size, further heat generation occurs by the leakage current effect at production.

Because variability in the current characteristics is difficult to predict during the time of development, the leakage current effect hinders the product thermal design. Leakage current depends on temperature and increases more at higher temperatures during operation. In addition, the leakage current of a semiconductor processor increases with the trend toward miniaturization of the semiconductors components. Unexpected heat generation may cause low-temperature injuries during the utilization stage.

In the previous chapter, the author proposed to apply thermal simulation based on a system model to prevent degradation of thermal quality due to software changes in consumer electronics products; however, production problems, such as decrease in the yield ratio due to variability in component characteristics, were not considered. To estimate how thermal risk is affected by variability in the leakage current of a semiconductor processor during the production stage, in this study, the author proposes to reuse thermal simulations based on the system model used in architecture design. As described in Chapter 2, the system model of a consumer electronic product is developed to analyze its thermal quality. The system model is described using SysML to clarify interdependency among system modules in thermal design view.

In this chapter, the author reuses the system model of a portable electronic product, which includes a semiconductor processor, to describe its leakage effect characteristics. Then, the thermal behaviors of the system are simulated, considering variability in the

leakage current characteristics of the semiconductor processor. In this chapter, portable consumer electronics products such as smartphones or tablets are assumed as examples.

Referring the thermal simulation results to the conditions of possible low-temperature burn injuries, the allowable range of component variability that satisfies a product's thermal quality requirements is calculated before it is put into production. During the early stages of the production, such as component inspection, the degradation of the product's thermal quality can be prevented by screening samples within the calculated range and installing the acceptable components. Moreover, the author proposes to apply thermal simulation to product variants. It is assumed that the same semiconductor processor is installed in products of the variant group. Thermal simulations are performed to determine the allowable range of variability in a semiconductor processor's leakage current characteristics for each product. Within this range, the processor samples causes a stronger leakage effect in a product with sufficient heat spreading ability; thus, degradation of product quality can be prevented without losing the component yield ratio.

## 4.2 Thermal simulation model of leakage current effect

In this subsection, the author develops a system model describing interactions among the module parameters, so as to consider the leakage current effect of a semiconductor processor. Figure 4.1 shows the composition of the elements of the thermal system to analyze thermal quality during the production stage. The system model that was developed for architecture design is reused. In comparison with the model shown in Figure 2.5 in the development stage, the task execution activity is not emphasized because the states of electrical parts are kept static to verify the leakage current characteristics, upon which heat generation and transfer depend. This chapter describes the interaction between heat generation and transfer.



Figure 4.1 Composition of thermal system elements for analyzing product thermal quality in the production stage

The activity diagram in Figure 4.2 shows the thermal behaviors that cause a product's temperature to rise. The activities here are related to heat generation and transfer. During the operation of a product for a certain use case, tasks are scheduled according to an algorithm written in a kernel of an OS; the operating frequency and voltage at which data are processed are assigned to a semiconductor processor. Other states are assigned to peripherals, such as a display. Power supplied to the peripherals is also executed according to OS commands.

In a semiconductor processor, the power consumed in processing data is dissipated as heat; in other words, heat is generated by data processing (a-1). To supply power to a semiconductor processor and its peripherals, the power-supply unit controls power to prevent wasteful consumption and extend battery life during portable usage. Power loss by voltage conversion and electrical resistance is dissipated as heat during activity of the power supply (a1-2). The peripherals, including driver ICs, are operated according to OS commands and their consumed power is dissipated as heat (a1-3).



Figure 4.2 Activity diagram of heat generation and transfer causing temperature rise considering heat transfer through other electrical parts

Concerning heat transfer activities, heat generated in a semiconductor processor is transferred to the PWB through a soldering layer and dissipated from the surface of the processor into the air in the product's cavity (a2-1). Besides heat from the semiconductor processor, heat from the power supply and peripherals is also transferred and spread through the PWB (a2-2). Although, in this dissertation, the heat transferred through the PWB is considered to be the total amount of heat generated by the product, this is a simplification that neglects heat transfer through other electrical components that are not mounted on the PWB and mechanical structures.

The heat from other electrical parts is transferred from the PWB to mechanical structures (a2-3-1), and that from mechanical structures is transferred from the PWB and other electrical parts to the surrounding air (a2-3-2). Because other electrical parts and mechanical structures belong to different modules, the activities of each module are clarified using a SysML activity diagram. This diagram is expected to help clarify thermal behaviors and manage design parameters efficiently, especially if interactions among modules cause complexity in product development.

The block definition diagram in Figure 4.3 shows the above-mentioned activities that are allocated by the thermal system and associated with constraints. The six constraint blocks contain equations for describing these activities. The above three constraints include heat generation equations for a semiconductor processor, a power supply, and peripherals. Other three constraints include heat transfer among modules and temperature rises of the semiconductor processor and the surface.

The author presents the heat generation equation for a semiconductor processor, considering leakage current effects in the constraint block of the processor heat generation equation in the diagram shown in Figure 4.3. As shown in Eq. (4.1), the heat dissipated from a semiconductor processor  $Q_p$  is the sum of the dynamic power for data processing (1st term) and the static power (leakage power), which increases with the leakage current effect (2nd term):

$$Q_p = F \cdot C_l \cdot V_{dd}^2 + I_{ls} \cdot V_{dd} \tag{4.1}$$

The dynamic power varies with the operating frequency F and voltage  $V_{dd}$  of a semiconductor processor. Here, the capacitance of the semiconductor processor is  $C_l$  and this processor is assumed to be fully activated.



Figure 4.3 Activity and constraint relations considering the leakage current effect

There are three leakage currents to consider, including subthreshold leakage current, gate leakage current, and source/drain leakage current. In general, subthreshold leakage current occurs more than the other two leakage currents. As early as in 2005, it was reported that subthreshold leakage current accounted for 79% of the entire leakage current in a benchmark circuit (Chang and Sapatnekar, 2005). The process node of the transistor model for the fabrication was 100-nm wide; because of a more refined fabrication process for semiconductors, the percentage of leakage current that can be accounted for by subthreshold effects has increased.

However, gate leakage current has also increased with refinement of semiconductor fabrication, and does not depend on temperature. In recent years, high-dielectric-constant materials (high-k) have been introduced to help suppress gate leakage current. Source/drain leakage current is not affected much by the refinement of semiconductor fabrication or temperature rise; therefore, this dissertation considers only subthreshold leakage current. Subthreshold leakage current  $I_{ls}$ , described in Eq. (4.2), varies exponentially with the variability in threshold voltage  $V_{th}$  and the temperature dependency of temperature voltage  $U_t$ .

$$I_{ls} \propto \exp\left(\left(-V_{th}\right) / \left(n \cdot U_{t}\right)\right) \tag{4.2}$$

Here, *n* is the subthreshold coefficient, with a typical value of around 1.3–1.5 (Matsuzawa 2014). As described in Eq. (4.3), temperature voltage Ut is proportional to the absolute temperature of a semiconductor processor,  $T_p$ :

$$U_T = (k \cdot T_p) / q \tag{4.3}$$

Here, Boltzmann's constant k is  $1.38 \times 10^{-23} \text{ eV/K}$ , and the electric charge q is  $1.60 \times 10^{-19}$  e; K is the unit of absolute temperature.

In Figure 4.3, the temperature of the semiconductor processor,  $T_p$ , is in two constraint blocks, the processor heat generation equation and the processor temperature equation, and depends on heat generation and transfer.  $T_p$  is in the constraint property of heat transfer and is clearly used as the parameter in the constraint property of heat generation. In other words, there is an interactive relationship between heat generation induced by leakage power and heat transfer. If heat transfer within an electronic product is insufficient to decrease processor temperature due to large thermal resistance, a vicious cycle is formed. Higher processor temperatures induce higher leakage power.

The parametric diagram in Figure 4.4 shows the relations among the design parameters used in the thermal simulation. In the figure, the three constraint properties on the left-hand side represent the heat generation equations and those on the right-hand side represent heat transfer. Parameters of the constant properties are also shown in Figure 4.4. At each heat transfer path that dissipates heat from a semiconductor processor to the surface, the transferred heat value is calculated with three dissipated heat parameters:  $Q_p$ ,  $Q_{ps}$ , and  $Q_{per}$ . After the dissipated heats are calculated using the constraint properties of heat generation, heat transfer among the modules is calculated. Then, the temperatures of the semiconductor processor  $(T_p)$  and product surface  $(T_s)$  are calculated with the transferred heat values. Surface temperature  $T_s$  depends on the heat transferred from product surfaces to the surrounding air and on heat transfer coefficients.

On the other hand, the temperatures of components located inside of the product, such as the processor temperature  $T_p$ , depend on thermal resistance at each heat transfer path, transferred heat value, and adjacent component temperature.  $T_p$  is used in the calculation of heat generation with the processor heat generation equation on the left of the figure. Using the parametric diagram, the interdependency between the parameters of heat generation and heat transfer is clearly expressed. Thermal resistance is a parameter of heat transfer within objects that include mechanical structures and PWB. The unit of thermal resistance is °C /W, and the value of thermal resistance due to the conductivity of an object can be calculated with the thermal conductivity that depends on material properties, the cross-sectional area of the heat transfer path, and dimensions such as object length.



Figure 4.4 Parametric diagram of the temperature constraint considering the leakage current effect

To calculate the transferred heat and temperature in thermal simulations, thermal network analysis is often used as mentioned above. To improve the accuracy of the calculation, it is effective to model the heat transfer characteristics of highly detailed mechanical and electrical parts and to employ a calculation using CFD that covers radiation and convection (Seki et al. 2008). If the verification of a simulation model referring the measurement result of a prototype is available, updating the parameters used in the simulation, such as thermal resistance, will improve the simulation accuracy. For thermal simulation in this chapter, CFD is applied.

In this dissertation, surface temperature  $T_s$  is simulated to estimate the risk of low-temperature burn injuries by a portable electronic product. The parametric diagram clearly shows which parameters affect  $T_s$ . In addition to the design parameters of electrical parts, such as the dynamic and static power of a semiconductor processor, the efficiency of the power supply, and the dissipated heat of the peripherals,  $T_s$ . is also affected by the thermal resistances of mechanical structures and electrical parts, as well as the ambient temperature. Visualization of the interaction effects helps to accelerate exploration of design parameters among disciplines. To design the derived products in the same product variants, their product characteristics can be simulated by changing the key design parameters of modules. For example, the operating frequency F is increased to accelerate the speed of data processing. The thermal resistance of mechanical structures,  $R_{mec}$ , is increased to simulate the case in which the outer dimensions of mechanical structures, including the enclosure and cavity, are expanded because of the installation of a larger display.

### 4.3 Thermal management considering variability in

#### semiconductor characteristics

First, this section describes the cases in which simulation based on the system model is performed during product development. The V-model (Forsberg at al. 2005) in Figure 4.5 shows the product development workflow. The vertical V-shape with a broad width represents the decomposition and integration of a product. The horizontal V-shape represents the processes of determination of system requirements, definition of system specifications, manufacturing or coding, verification, and validation in the respective levels of the system, subsystem, and component.

Electronic products consist of modules such as software, electrical parts, and mechanical structures. Because the modules are technologically based on different disciplines, the design of an electronic product has to consider interaction of modules and various design constraints. Therefore, it is important to undertake design with consideration of the entire system in the early stages of development shown on the top left of the V-model, in order to prevent unintended fatal iterations of the design work.


Figure 4.5 Product development workflow

Simulations based on the system model, which describes interactions among modules, are employed to verify that module design specifications meet the system requirements for a product. Thermal simulation is a typical means of performing this verification. In the electrical component design shown in the middle left of the V-model in Figure 4.5, the layout of parts on the PWB is designed to not only simplify the writing pattern but also to maintain a certain distance between the electrical parts that generate heat, so as to spread heat throughout the PWB. For such a PWB design, thermal simulation is used to calculate the temperature distribution with models of the electrical parts (Seki et al. 2008).

To satisfy product thermal quality, the author proposes to determine the allowable range of variability in component characteristics at the prototyping phase before mass production of the product. Because portable electronic products must be made ever smaller and lighter, variability in threshold voltage, which is increased by miniaturization of the semiconductor fabrication process, seriously affects the product's thermal quality. In the case where the variability is found in the early stages of production, such as component unit testing during acceptance inspection, it is difficult to estimate the thermal quality of the product while disregarding heat transfer in the product's whole structure and interactions between heat transfer and generation.

In this dissertation, the author proposes to employ a thermal simulation model that describes interactions among the design parameters of the modules to determine the allowable range of variability in a semiconductor processor's threshold voltage. The thermal simulation model can be reused after it is employed to define the architecture during the early phases of product development. Referring to the determined range as criteria, semiconductor processor samples are screened during the verification of prototypes shown at the bottom right of the V-model in Figure 4.5. Comparing the simulation model is verified. Then, examination of the quality of the components in the process of mass production is enabled.

If the variability in the component characteristics is larger than expected in mass production without screening, unacceptable components can be integrated into modules. After the modules are integrated into products, the product qualities of a large number of samples become degraded. Therefore, screening and removing such components before integration prevents the degradation of the product. Even if the unacceptable components are integrated and the product sample fails a quality test after assembly, costs of repair or disposal of the product are incurred. This oversight may also lead to a higher risk of low-temperature burn injuries during utilization of the product samples leaked to the market. With determination of the acceptable range of component characteristics using thermal simulation, screening components during the production process serve to prevent glitches.

#### 4.4 Application to themal design in the production stage

#### 4.4.1 Effect of variability in leakage current

First, the author describes the effect of variability in component characteristics, such as the leakage current of a semiconductor processor. The leakage current has increased with the trend toward miniaturization of the semiconductor's fabrication process, as mentioned above. Moreover, the temperature rise induced by leakage current is sensitive to variability. This variability in component characteristics is a factor leading to yield and product quality degradation (Saeki at al. 2009).

To determine the effect of variability in threshold voltage on leakage current, the value of threshold voltage in Eq. (4.2) is varied in the simulation model. Figure 4.6 shows examples of the probability density distribution of  $V_{th}$  and Figure 4.7 simulation results of the relation between processor temperature and leakage power with three threshold voltages: 0.32 V, 0.34 V, and 0.36 V. As Figure 4.7 shown, leakage power increases with processor temperature. Leakage power increased by 7.9 times under processor temperature rise from 20 °C to 100 °C in the case where  $V_{th}$  is 0.34 V. In addition, if  $V_{th}$  changes from 0.34 V to 0.32 V, the leakage power increases by 64% at 60 °C. Therefore, the increase in leakage power with processor temperature is difficult to ignore in the power performance of a semiconductor processor. In the case where the dynamic power is 2 W and the processing temperature is 60 °C, leakage power accounts for 15% of the total power of a semiconductor processor.



Figure 4.6 Variability in threshold voltage



Figure 4.7 Temperature and leakage power relations

# 4.4.2 Prevention of thermal quality degradation by screening semiconductor processor samples

In this subsection, the surface temperature  $T_s$  of a general portable electronic product is simulated under varying threshold voltage  $V_{th}$ . Comparing the simulation results to the conditions of low-temperature burn injuries, the allowable range of variability in threshold voltage  $V_{th}$  is determined so as to satisfy product thermal quality.

Figure 4.8 shows the thermal simulation result of surface temperature  $T_s$  when  $V_{th}$  is allowed to vary as shown in Figure 4.6. The electrical parts and mechanical structures are simplified and located within an enclosure whose outer dimensions are  $124 \times 64 \times$  $10 \text{ mm}^3$ . When ambient temperature is 25 °C and threshold voltage  $V_{th}$  is the mean of the distribution, 0.34 V, peak surface temperature  $T_s$  is 42.3 °C. It is believed that product surface temperatures of 43 °C or less do not cause low-temperature burn injuries; therefore, the mean threshold voltage  $V_{th}$  satisfies the product thermal quality constraints. However,  $V_{th}$  has a large variability, so surface temperature  $T_s$  also varies significantly. If  $V_{th}$  is 0.32 V or less, surface temperature  $T_s$  exceeds to 43 °C. Product thermal quality is unacceptable in that case because of the possibility of low-temperature burn injuries. By estimating the effect of component characteristic variability upon a product's thermal quality, the allowable range of this variability can be determined before mass production. After screening the components, only those that satisfy the quality constraints can be integrated, thus ensuring product safety.

To realize this control, processes for acquiring individual component sample characteristics and sorting samples based on simulation results are required before components can be implemented. Such data can be acquired from the results of electrical characteristic testing during a post process of semiconductor fabrication, or measured during the receiving inspection process using test sockets that enable insertion and removal of components.



Figure 4.8 Variability in surface temperature

### 4.4.3 Sorting processes for matching thermal characteristics in product variants

To reduce the component waste that may be caused by the above-mentioned screening, this dissertation proposes efficient implementation of the components of product variants. It is assumed that the same type of semiconductor processor that is incorporated into a product is also incorporated in its variants. Table 4.1 shows three variant products considered in this subsection. Although the same models of semiconductor processors are installed in all three products, the outer dimensions and conditions of processor operation differ. Design parameter changes for each product characteristic in each variant are simulated numerically. Product A is the product shown in Figure 4.8; a relatively fast semiconductor processor is implemented in small size.

Product B is assumed to be a high-end model of larger size; although the conditions of processor operation are the same as those of Product A, additional peripherals are implemented for Product B. Therefore, heat dissipation by Product B is increased over that of Product A because of the additional power consumed by the peripherals. On the other hand, heat transfer due to natural convection is promoted in Product B because of its larger surface area and larger outer dimensions. Because larger mechanical structures increase the thermal resistances of mechanical structures,  $R_{mec}$ , and increase in heat dissipation by the peripherals,  $Q_{per}$ , promotes temperature rise, quantitative evaluations, such as thermal simulations, are necessary to estimate temperature rise. Product C is the low-end version of Product A; the speed of data processing is suppressed due to limitation of the maximum operating frequency F, so the heat dissipated by the semiconductor processor  $Q_p$  is smaller than those of the other two products.

For each of these three products, the allowable range of variability of the same semiconductor processor is determined to satisfy product thermal quality, using thermal simulations. Figure 4.9 shows the variability in the peak surface temperatures of Products A, B, and C according to the variability in the threshold voltage,  $V_{th}$  of a semiconductor processor. The target temperature on the product surface is set to 43 °C or less to prevent low-temperature burn injuries; thus, the threshold voltage of a semiconductor processor incorporated into Product A must be 0.32 V or higher. If semiconductor processors are screened based on the limitations for Product A, 73.4% of all units will be passed. This means that 26.6% of the units are not passed and are judged unfit for integration.

For Product B, the threshold voltage of an implemented semiconductor processor must be 0.29 V or higher to satisfy the product thermal quality, and 98.3% of all units are passed. Therefore, most of the unacceptable samples for Product A can be implemented into Product B. The remaining 1.7% of the samples can be implemented into Product C, which has a wider allowable range of variability. The threshold voltage of a semiconductor processor that is implemented into Product C must be 0.27 V or higher to satisfy the product thermal quality constraints, and 99.9% of all units pass this threshold.

Thus, high risk component samples of relatively low  $V_{th}$  can be implemented in products with wider allowable ranges of component characteristic variability. Sharing the data concerning the characteristics of individual component and sorting units allows realization of matching thermal characteristics for product variants, so as to maintain product thermal quality and efficient implementation of these components.

	А	В	С
Dimensions [mm]	$124 \times 64 \times 10$	$144\times7\times10$	$124 \times 64 \times 10$
Semiconductor processor Frequency [GHz]	2	2	1.2
Power Consumption of Peripherals [W]	0.5	1	0.5

Table 4.1Differences among the three products



Figure 4.9 Component sorting for various products

#### 4.5 Summary

This dissertation proposed simulation based on the system modeling conducted during early phases of production (such as receiving inspection) with consideration of variability in a semiconductor processor's leakage current effect, so as to satisfy product thermal quality constraints. The system model developed in the early stage of product development to define architecture was reused. The model was described with SysML considering interactions among parameters of mechanical structures and electrical parts including semiconductors with temperature-dependent leakage current characteristics.

To satisfy product thermal quality, the author proposed determining the allowable characteristic variability ranges of components during the prototyping phase before mass production. In this chapter, product surface temperature was estimated based on the variability in the leakage current of a semiconductor processor using thermal simulation of a portable electronic product. By comparing these results to the condition at which low-temperature burn injuries are possible, the allowable variability range of the component was calculated prior to mass production of the product. Screening components to meet the allowable range of variability enabled satisfaction of thermal quality constraints.

In addition, the system model was applied to describe product variants that use the same semiconductor processor but change the parameters in the thermal design view. Employing simulations based on the system model, the allowable range of component variability was determined for each product. Sorting semiconductor processor samples and matching thermal characteristics in product variants enabled maintenance of the product's thermal quality and efficient implementation of the components.

# Chapter 5 Conclusion and Future work

### 5.1 Conclusion

This dissertation illustrated a thermal design method for portable electronic products using system modeling. The purpose of this research was to satisfy thermal quality constraints through the product lifecycle and prevent fatal iterative work. Both heat generation and transfer behaviors were modeled. The portable electronic product included software modules, electrical parts, and mechanical structures, and the thermal behaviors related to the basic functions and structure were described in the thermal design view. The author developed a thermal simulation model based on the system model, coupling design parameters and constraints among different disciplines. As a design constraint to satisfy product thermal quality, temperatures resulting in low-temperature burn injuries were quantified. Architectural candidates were assessed using thermal simulation based system model, considering the design constraints. This approach enabled more efficient and comprehensive evaluation of the quality of portable electronic products during the product development stage.

To prevent fatal iterative work, this dissertation proposed defining and managing target values for module designs in the thermal design view. The target values named ITVs would be the boundary conditions of module designs for managing factors that affect thermal quality. These included the states of electrical parts controlled by software, heat from electrical parts to mechanical structures, and the surface temperature of the product. During architectural design, ITVs would be determined through cooperation among module design groups and distributed to satisfy product quality.

In addition, visualizing relations among system elements in the thermal design view using MDM was proposed to promote a common understanding among module design groups. A portion of the DSM structure was arranged into a thermal coupling matrix (TCM) to visualize the thermal coupling condition. The descriptions of architectural candidates using MDM and their comparison in terms of ITVs were demonstrated. The author also described the proposed thermal design process expressed in DSM. Through product development, ITVs are expected to be updated to adapt to design changes. This

work of updating ITVs would prevent fatal iterative work at the time of integration, which may occur during the late stages of development.

This dissertation also described the thermal design specification of a portable electronic product. System modeling was applied to smartphone thermal design. The thermal system was decomposed to describe its behaviors. Based on equations of heat generation and heat transfer, thermal simulation was performed referring to the condition of low-temperature burn injuries. The first application of this model was to explore the parameters for thermal design specification. This dissertation introduced a thermal design approach for electronic products with consideration of user requirements. In the simulation based on the system model, ITVs were calculated as boundary conditions among module designs, which comprised software, electrical parts, and mechanical structures.

The next application was updating ITVs to prevent degradation of thermal quality due to design changes. Thermal design using system modeling could also be used to identify design changes that conform to product specifications. The candidates for improvement were developed by recalculation of the ITVs. The changes could be discussed among concerned parties to weigh the design parameters against conflicting requirements. Once affordable ITVs are assigned to each module design, the module design can be performed to satisfy these ITVs. The benefits may include preventing fatal iterative work required to complete product development.

In addition to the applications for product development, thermal design using system modeling was applied to estimating thermal quality and preparing measures in case of software changes during the support stage. In this application, the author presented a verification workflow. The simulation model suggested improvements that could be activated under increased thermal risk. By estimating this risk in advance, the author could limit the number of measurements needed for verification. This system-design approach will allow efficient verification, particularly when software changes in the support stage introduce numerous and diverse product variations.

This dissertation also applied the system model to the production stage of the product lifecycle. To prevent quality degradation with variability of component characteristics, such as the leakage current of a semiconductor processor, a simulation model was developed to consider interactions among the parameters of mechanical structures and electrical parts. Thermal simulation was employed to determine the allowable range of variability in the leakage current characteristics that satisfied a product's thermal quality constraints. With this limitation, components that cause quality degradation can be screened using thermal simulation results before their implementation into finished products. In addition, using simulations that change the design parameters of a product to consider product variants with the same semiconductor processor, the allowable range of component variability was determined for each variant. Sorting semiconductor processor samples and matching thermal characteristics in variants enabled maintenance of product thermal quality and efficient implementation of components.

Shortcomings of this research included lack of quantitative consideration of other design constraints besides thermal quality, such as electromagnetic compatibility (EMC). Besides the disciplines of modeling and simulation, this research can be applied to a wide range of product lifecycles. The design approach using system modeling can be related to the need of stakeholders to resolve conflicts between requirements.

#### 5.2 Future work

The author aims to apply the proposed thermal design method using system modeling to actual thermal design projects in an enterprise to assess its effectiveness. The author also aims to expand this design method to an earlier stage of concept design to consider further user requirements and to develop a design methodology of system architecture considering trade-off relations between thermal quality and conflicting user requirements, such as a processing speed. Changes in the user's needs should also be considered under each use case.

Quantitative consideration of other design constrains besides thermal quality is another challenge for developing this design method. The author aims to apply system modeling to solving problems of thermal and EMC design. Considering design constrains in addition to thermal quality, this design approach using system modeling offers more advantages that contribute practically to product development.

In addition to the disciplines of modeling and simulation, this research can be developed for more detailed product lifecycle management. Design approaches using system modeling can be related to both stakeholder needs to resolve conflicts between requirements and to detailed design information throughout the lifecycles of product groups. According to the product lifecycle management methodology, the model and related information including requirements and verification results should be archived in the repository of an IT system. This enables traceability of product value, including product quality, to be maintained in the case of design changes. If enough information is available and maintained to model system elements in detail, virtual prototyping will become available to solve more issues efficiently in advance.

## References

Aoki, H., Ikeda, M. and Kimura, Y. (2011) 'Ultra thin heat pipe and its application, Frontiers in Heat Pipes (FHP) ', 2, 043003

Apple (2015) 'Apple Previews iOS 9', http://www.apple.com/pr/library/2015/06/08Apple-Previews-iOS-9.html (Accessed 6 March 2016)

Balmelli, L. (2007) 'An overview of the systems modeling language for products and systems development', Journal of Object Technology, Vol. 6 No. 6, pp.149 - 177

Bayba, A. J. and Washington, D. F. (2012) 'Initial Experiments on Thermal Interface Materials for Electronics Packaging', ARMY RESEARCH LAB, No. ARL-TN-0519, http://www.dtic.mil/dtic/tr/fulltext/u2/a571796.pdf (Accessed 6 March 2016)

Benson, M. (2014) 'The Art of Software Thermal Management for Embedded Systems', Springer.

Brooks, D. and Martonosi, M. (2001) 'Dynamic thermal management for high-performance microprocessors', High-Performance Computer Architecture (HPCA) IEEE International Symposium 7th: Proceeding of HPCA, Nuevo Leone, Mexico, pp.171 - 182. DOI: 10.1109/HPCA.2001.903261

Cannon (2012) 'Service Notice: VIXIA HF M31/ M30/ M300/ M32/ M301', https://www.usa.canon.com/internet/portal/us/home/support/product-advisories/detail/?c urrent=true&urile=wcm%3Apath%3A/canon\_newweb\_products/product-advisories/adv -vixia-heated (Accessed 23 February 2016).

Chang, H. and Sapatnekar, S. S. (2005) 'Full-chip analysis of leakage power under process variations, including spatial correlations', The 42nd annual Design Automation Conference, pp. 523-528.

Chandrakasan, A. Sheng, A. and Brodersen, W. (1992) 'Low-power CMOS digital design', IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, Vol.27, No.4, pp. 473-484.

Clarkson, P. J., Caroline Simons, and Claudia Eckert. (2004) 'Predicting Change Propagation in Complex Design', ASME Journal of Mechanical Design 126 (5): 788-797. DOI:10.1115/1.1765117.

Consumer Reports (2012) 'Our test finds new iPad hits 116 degrees while running games',

http://news.consumerreports.org/electronics/2012/03/our-test-finds-new-ipad-hits-116-d egrees-while-running-games.html (Accessed 21 September 2015).

Danilovic, M. and Browning, T. R. (2007) 'Managing complex product development projects with design structure matrices and domain mapping matrices', International Journal of Project Management 25 (3): 300-314. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijproman.2006.11.003

Diepold, K. J., Biedermann, W., Eben, K. G. M., Kortler, S., Lohmann, B. and Lindemann, U. (2010) 'Combining Structural Complexity Management And Hybrid Dynamical System Modelling', Proceeding of International Design Conference 2010 (DESIGN10), Vol. 2, pp. 1045-1054.

Eguchi, T., Koga, T. and Aoyama, K. (2012) 'Product development based on design information model for verification and validation', Transactions of JSME, Vol. 78(793) (666), pp.186-201 (in Japanese).

Falaki, H., Mahajan, R., Kandula, S., Lymberopoulos, D., Govindan, R. and Estrin, D. (2010) 'Diversity in smartphone usage', Proceedings of the 8th international conference on Mobile systems, applications, and services', ACM, pp. 179-194.

Forsberg, K., Mooz, H. and Cotterman, H. (2005) 'Visualizing project management: models and frameworks for mastering complex systems', John Wiley & Sons.

Friedenthal, S., Moore, A. and Steiner, R. (2014) 'A practical guide to SysML: the systems modeling language', Morgan Kaufmann.

Gebauer, Judith, Ya Tang, and Chaiwat Baimai (2008) 'User Requirements of Mobile Technology – Results from a Content Analysis of User Reviews', Information Systems and e-Business Management 6 (4): 361-384. DOI: 10.1007/s10257-007-0074-9

Google (2013) Google Press Event, San Francisco, 24 July 2013., https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=btY6FKYiZz8 (Accessed 21 September 2015).

Gwinn, J. P., and Webb, R. L. (2003) 'Performance and testing of thermal interface materials', Microelectronics Journal, 34(3), pp. 215-222.

Gurrum, S. P., Edwards, D. R., Marchand-Golder, T., Akiyama, J., Yokoya, S., Drouard, J., and Dahan, F. (2012) 'Generic thermal analysis for phone and tablet systems', Electronic Components and Technology Conference (ECTC), 2012 IEEE 62nd, pp. 1488-1492.

Hamraz, Bahram, N. H. M. Caldwell, D. C. Wynn, and P. J. Clarkson. (2013) 'Requirements-based development of an improved engineering change management method', Journal of Engineering Design 24 (11): 765-793. DOI: 10.1080/09544828.2013.834039

Hao, S., Ding, L., Halfond, W. G. J. and Govindan, R. (2012) 'Estimating android applications' CPU energy usage via bytecode profiling, Green and Sustainable Software', Proceedings of GREENS 2012, Zurich, Switzerland, pp.1-7. DOI: 10.1109/GREENS.2012.6224263

Hatakeyama, T., Ishizuka, M. and Nakagawa, S. (2010) 'Estimation of maximum temperature in 3D-integrated package by thermal network method', Electronics Packaging Technology Conference (EPTC) 2010: Proceedings of EPTC 2010, Singapore, pp.68-71.

Hisamoto, D., Lee, W. C., Kedzierski, J., Takeuchi, H., Asano, K., Kuo, C., Anderson, E. King, T. J., Bokor, J., Hu, C. (2000) 'FinFET-a self-aligned double-gate MOSFET scalable to 20 nm. Electron Devices', IEEE Transactions on, 47(12), pp. 2320-2325.

INCOSE (2015) 'Systems Engineering Handbook', ver. 4.0.

ISO (2011) 'Systems and Software Engineering–Architecture Description', ISO/IEC/IEEE 42010.

Jung, H. (2012) 'Advanced power and thermal management for low-power', high-performance smartphones, ISLPED '12 Proceedings of the 2012 ACM/IEEE international symposium on Low power electronics and design, pp.363-364.

Kagermann, H., Helbig, J., Hellinger, A. and Wahlster, W. (2013) 'Recommendations for implementing the strategic initiative INDUSTRIE 4.0: Securing the future of German manufacturing industry', Final Report of the Industrie 4.0 Working Group, Forschungsunion.,

http://www.acatech.de/fileadmin/user\_upload/Baumstruktur\_nach\_Website/Acatech/roo t/de/Material\_fuer\_Sonderseiten/Industrie\_4.0/Final\_report\_\_Industrie\_4.0\_accessible.p df, (Accessed 29 August 2015).

Katagiri, A. and Toi, T. (2014) 'Robust design to minimize eigen frequency variance of structure by stochastic finite element method', Transactions of the JSME (in Japanese), Vol. 80, No. 819, DOI: 10.1299/transjsme.2014dr0329

Kimber M., Suzuki K., Kitsunai N., Seki K., Garimella S. V. (2009) 'Pressure and flow rate performance of piezoelectric fans', Components and Packaging Technologies, IEEE Transactions, Vol.32, No.4, pp. 766-775.

Kuusela, J. (2012) 'How variation changes when an embedded product ceases to be embedded?', WICSA/ECSA 2012: Proceedings of the WICSA/ECSA 2012, Companion Volume, Helsinki, Finland, pp.147–150.

Matsuzawa A. (2014) 'Issues of current LSI technology and the future technology direction', The transactions of the Institute of Electronics, Information and Communication Engineers. Vol. J87-C, No. 11, pp.802-809 (in Japanese).

Matsueda, J., Maeda, T., Takada, E., Ozaki, Y., Kobayashi, T., Konno, E. and Arita, Y. (2015) 'Internal initiatives aiming to realize "Smart Monozukuri", FUJITSU, Vol.66, No.4, pp.81-88 (in Japanese).

Moritz, A. and Henriques, F. (1947) 'Studies of thermal injury: II. the relative importance of time and surface temperature in the causation of cutaneous burns', American Journal of Pathology, Vol. 23, No. 5, pp.695-720.

Michelena, N. F. and Papalambros, P. Y. (1995) 'Optimal model-based decomposition of powertrain system design', Journal of mechanical design, Vol. 117, No. 4, pp.499-505.

Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (2015) 'Through IoT, Japanese factories connected together', METI Journal, http://www.meti.go.jp/english/publications/pdf/journal2015\_05a.pdf, (accessed on 29 August, 2015)

Miyazaki, M. (2013) 'Activities of simulators for research and development', The Journal of the Institute of Electronics, Information, and Communication Engineers, Vol. 96, No. 6, pp.380-385 (in Japanese).

Muraoka, Y., Seki, K. and Nishimura, H. (2013a) 'A system level thermal design approach of electronics products to resolve conflicting user requirements', Asia-Pacific Council on Systems Engineering 2013 (ACPOSEC 2013), Yokohama, Sep 2013

Muraoka, Y., Seki, K. and Nishimura, H. (2013b) 'A system-level thermal design specification development of electronic products considering software changes', International Conference on Engineering Design 2013 (ICED13): Proceedings of ICED 13, Seoul, Korea, Vol. 1, pp.319-328.

Muraoka, Y., Seki, K. and Nishimura, H. (2015) 'Thermal Management of Software Changes in Product Lifecycle of Consumer Electronics', International Journal of Product Lifecycle Management, Vol. 8, No. 4, pp. 348-362.

Muraoka, Y., Seki, K. and Nishimura, H. (2016) 'Application of system modeling for production system of portable products considering variation in leakage current characteristics of semiconductors', Transactions of the Japan Society of Mechanical Engineers, Vol. 82, No. 835. p. 15-00480. (in Japanese)

National consumer affairs center of Japan (2014) 'Beware Smartphone Charger Burning and Handset Overheating - In Some Cases, People Have Even Suffered Burns', Vol. 26,

No. 1, http://www.kokusen.go.jp/e-hello/data/ncac\_news26\_1.pdf (Accessed 24 February 2016).

National Institute of Technology and Evaluation (2015) 'Brochures to promulgate safety information', http://www.nite.go.jp/data/000060011.pdf, (Accessed 24 February 2016 in Japanese).

NEC (2013) 'Medias X 06E', http://www.n-keitai.com/n-06e/highspec.html#sub02, (Accessed 11 March 2016, in Japanese).

Qualcomm, (2012) 'Snapdragon S4 Thermal Comparison and Butter Benchmark', http://www.qualcomm.com/media/videos/snapdragon-s4-thermal-comparison-and-butte r-benchmark, (Accessed 24 February 2016).

Roy, S. (2011) 'An equation for estimating the maximum allowable surface temperatures of electronic equipment', semiconductor thermal measurement and management symposium (SEMI-THERM), 2011 27th Annual IEEE, pp54-62.

Sakata T., Okumura, T., Kurokawa A., Nakashima, H., Masuda, H., Sato, T., Hashimoto, M., Hachiya., K., Furukawa, K., Tanaka, M., Takafuji, H. and Kanamoto, T. (2009) 'An approach for reducing leakage current variation due to manufacturing variability', The Institute of Electronics, Information and Communication Engineers, The 22nd Workshop on Circuits and Systems in Karuizawa, pp.444-449 (in Japanese).

Sekar, K. (2013) 'Power and thermal challenges in mobile devices', Proceedings of the 19th annual international conference on Mobile computing & networking, ACM, pp. 363-368.

Seki, K., Nishimura, H., Ishii, K. (2008) 'Optimal thermal design for Consumer Electronics: A Simulation based unplanned iteration management', Asia-Pacific Conference on Systems Engineering (APCOSE 2008), Paper#MA33.

Seki, K., Nishimura, H., Zhu, S. and Balmelli, L. (2011a) 'A Parametric Design Framework to Support Structural and Functional Modeling of Complex Consumer Electronics Products', International Conference on Engineering Design 2011 (ICED 11): Proceedings of ICED 11, Copenhagen, Denmark, pp.282-291. Seki, K. and Nishimura, H. (2011b) 'A module-based thermal design approach for distributed product development', Research in Engineering Design, Vol. 22 No. 4, pp.279 - 295. DOI: 10.1007/s00163-011-0113-x

Seki, K., Nishimura, H., Zhu, S. and Balmell, L. (2012) 'A module design approach using structural and functional modeling for distributed consumer electronics design project', Transactions of the Japan Society of Mechanical Engineers, Series C, Vol. 78, No. 785, pp.187-200 (in Japanese).

Seki, K., Muraoka, Y. and Nishimura, H. (2015) 'System Level Thermal Design -Process Modeling for Functional/Structure Design using SysML and MDM', 17th International DSM Conference, pp. 149-159.

Siemens (2012) 'Role of PLM in the software lifecycle', White Paper, http://m.plm.automation.siemens.com/en\_us/Images/15825\_tcm1224-75783.pdf, (Accessed 21 September 2015).

Siemens (2015) 'Key capabilities and benefits of systems engineering', White Paper, http://www.plm.automation.siemens.com/se\_se/products/teamcenter/systems-engineerin g-software/#lightview%26uri=tcm:741-206428%26title=Getting-Started-with-Systems-Engineering-White-Paper-32661%26docType=pdf, (Accessed 5 March 2016).

Smalc, M., Shives, G., Chen, G., Guggari, S., Norley, J., and Reynolds, R. A. (2005) 'Thermal performance of natural graphite heat spreaders', ASME 2005 Pacific Rim Technical Conference and Exhibition on Integration and Packaging of MEMS, NEMS, and Electronic Systems collocated with the ASME 2005 Heat Transfer Summer Conference, pp. 79-89.

Suzuki, T., Hirayama, T., Aihara, K., and Hirohata, Y. (1991) 'Experimental studies of moderate temperature burns', Burns, Vol. 17, No.6, pp.443-451.

Tesla motors (2016) 'Enhancing Safety and Convenience with Summon', https://www.teslamotors.com/blog/enhancing-safety-and-convenience-summon (Accessed 9 March 2016). Tiwari, V., Singh, D., Rajgopal, S., Mehta, G., Patel, R., and Baez, F. (1998) 'Reducing power in high-performance microprocessors', Proceedings of the 35th annual Design Automation Conference, ACM, pp. 732-737.

Ulrich KT, Eppinger SD (2007) 'Product Design and Development', McGraw-Hill.

Venkatachalam, V. and Franz, A. (2005) 'Power Reduction Techniques For Microprocessor Systems', ACM computing surveys, Vol. 37, Issue 3, pp. 195-237.

Yazawa, K. and Bar-Cohen A. (2012) 'Energy efficient cooling of notebook computers', The Eighth Intersociety Conference on Thermal and Thermomechanical Phenomena in Electronic Systems (ITHERM), pp.785-791.

Zhang, L., Tiwana, B., Qian, Z., Wang, Z., Dick, R. P., Mao, Z. M. and Yang, L (2010) 'Accurate online power estimation and automatic battery based power model generation for smartphones', CODES/ISSS '10: Proceedings of the eighth IEEE/ACM/IFIP international conference on Hard-ware/software codesign and system synthesis, Scottsdale, USA, pp.105-114. DOI: 10.1145/1878961.1878982